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Folio Education Trust
Trustees’ Report
The Trustees present their annual report together with the financial statements and auditors report of the
charitable company for the period to 31 August 2021. The annual report serves the purposes of both a
Trustees’ report, and a directors’ report under company law.
The financial statements incorporate the activities of the Trusts’ wholly owned trading subsidiary, Folio
Services Limited (Company Registration Number 11387304).
The Trust operates four schools serving a catchment area across South London but predominantly in the
London Boroughs of Sutton and Croydon.

Structure, Governance and Management
Constitution
The Trust is a company limited by guarantee and an exempt charity. The charitable company’s
memorandum and articles of association are the primary governing documents of the Trust. The Trustees
of Folio Education Trust are also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law.
Details of the Trustees who served during the year and up to date of signing this report are included in the
Reference and Administrative Details on page 1.
Members’ Liability
Each member of the charitable company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the charitable company in
the event of it being wound up while they are a member, or within one year after they cease to be a member,
such amount as may be required, not exceeding £10 for the debts and liabilities contracted before they
ceased to be a member.
Investments
The Trust has one subsidiary company, Folio Services Limited. The principal activity of Folio Services Limited
is to provide catering and education welfare services to educational establishments, and to manage the
sports lettings and café facilities at Coombe Wood School. Any taxable surpluses generated by the subsidiary
are transferred to the Trust under Deed of Covenant. In the current year, the company generated an overall
loss of £132k, the overall surplus generated and transferred to the Trust in 2019/20 was £5,331. In addition,
the Trust has agreed to advance a loan of £250,000 to the subsidiary, of which £100,000 has been drawn
down in the year. This loan will be repaid to the Trust over a period of 36 months or on demand at an interest
rate of 2.9% above the Bank of England base rate.
Trustees’ Indemnities
In accordance with normal commercial practice the Trust has purchased insurance to protect Trustees and
officers from claims arising from negligent acts, errors or omissions occurring whilst on Trust business. The
insurance provides cover up to £5,000,000 on any one claim.
Method of Recruitment and Appointment or Election of Trustees
The Trust is very focused upon ensuring that there is good governance throughout the organisation.
Trustees are co-opted following a skills review and a rigorous approach to recruitment has meant that over
the last 12 months the organisation has added three Trustees who are able to support and challenge the
organisation with regards to Educational Outcomes, HR and Digital Learning. The last topic (Digital
Learning) was in response to the changing nature of how children learnt during the COVID-19 pandemic.
The Trust wanted to make sure it reviews the way children can learn online and the changing landscape of
digital technologies within the classroom.
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Folio Education Trust
Trustees’ Report
The Trust’s Articles state that ‘Appointed Trustees’ (those appointed by the Members) are able to co-opt
other Trustees. The Trust Board then elects a Chair and Vice Chair and appoints Trustees to become part
of Trust Committees who at their first meeting of the academic year will elect committee Chairs and Vice
Chairs. Terms of Reference are approved by the Trust Board. Terms of Office for all Trustees are four
years, with the exception of the CEO, who as an ex officio Trustee remains a Trustee until he resigns his
position as CEO. During 2021/2022 the Trust Board will be reviewing the Trusts’ articles of association with
the aim of ensuring effective separation between the Executive, the Trust Board and the Members. It is
likely that when this is in place the CEO will step down as a Trustee but will continue to attend all Trust
Board meetings and Committee meetings withdrawing only when matters of executive pay are discussed.

Trust committees are:

Trust Board
Remuneration Committee
Financial Management, Audit and Risk Committee
Education Committee
People Committee
Local Governing Body (LGB)

The Trust uses the term Local Governing Bodies (LGBs) whose main function is to support and challenge
the educational performance of schools. Similarly Local Governors are identified following a rigorous skills
audit and people are co-opted with a precise skill set and Governance Job Description in mind. Local
Governors are co-opted by the Local Governors who are led by a Chair and Vice Chair. Local Governors
have a term of office of four years and focus on one of the following Lead Governor roles:

Lead Governor roles:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)

Leadership & Management
Quality of Education – Curriculum Intent and Implementation
Quality of Education – Curriculum Impact
Quality of Education – SEND and other vulnerable groups of children
Personal Development, Behaviour & Attitudes (to include Safeguarding) *
Financial Management and Risk
Health & Safety (to include Educational Visits)
Careers, Employability and Local Community Engagement **
* Safeguarding & Child Protection is a leading area of evaluation within Personal Development,
Behaviour and Attitudes.
** Careers and Employability could be an area of evaluation within Leadership & Management.
Local Community Engagement ensures a harmonious outward facing school.
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Folio Education Trust
Trustees’ Report
Policies and Procedures Adopted for the Induction and Training of Trustees
During 2020/2021 Trustees attended training courses and webinars offered by external organisations such
as the Confederation of School Trusts (CST) and Octavo Services Croydon. The Trust has a start of year
pack which contains governance training materials and links to publications such as Keeping Children Safe
In Education (KCSIE), The Academy Trust Handbook and the Governance Handbook. During the induction
of new Trustees and DBS checking process, Trustees are invited to visit all the Trusts’ schools with the
Chief Executive Officer so they start to develop a deeper understanding of the strengths and challenges
schools face.
The Trust has developed a governance model which identifies Governance Job Descriptions. Acting as
Lead Governors in specific areas of evaluation the Trust is exploring collaborative training across schools
where governors from different schools who specialise in certain areas can work together, share ideas and
support each other on evaluating features across different educational settings.
Within the Trust Board there are also specific Lead Trustee roles which help the Trust focus on specific
performance metrics and conduct focused training.
Lead Trustee roles:
a.)
b.)
c.)
d.)
e.)
f.)
g.)

Financial Management & Audit
Operations & Risk
Education Strategy
People Strategy
Digital Learning
Inclusion & Welfare including Safeguarding
Health & Safety

The Trust was last externally reviewed with regards to governance in June 2020. Following this review by
the Trusts’ auditors, actions and development points were regularly discussed during 2020/2021. The Trust
will look to secure an additional external review during Spring/Summer 2022.
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Folio Education Trust
Trustees’ Report
Organisational Structure
The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is supported by the work of the Chief Finance Officer (CFO) and the
Chief Operations Officer (COO)
The Central Trust staff includes a number of strategic roles which include:
Director of Catering
Director of IT
Director of Estate Management
Director of HR
Director of Marketing
Director of Compliance
Director of Sporting Operations
This central team also includes a number of staff who are focused on the Financial Management of the
central Trust and individual schools to ensure the collaborative building of annual budgets and the
monitoring of school spending patterns and financial key performance metrics.
Within Folio Education Trust during 2020/2021 there were four schools:
Coombe Wood School (CWS)
Park Hill Junior School (PHJS)
St. Peter’s Primary School (SPPS)
Wallington County Grammar School (WCGS)
In each school there is a Senior Leadership Team (SLT) which has delegated responsibility for the day to
day running of the school. Each school retains its own Local Governing Body (LGB) which is responsible
for supporting and challenging the school with a specific focus upon the Quality of Education.
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Folio Education Trust
Trustees’ Report
School based leadership structure is as follows:

CWS

Head teacher
Deputy Head teacher x2
Assistant Head teacher x3

PHJS

Head teacher
Deputy Head teacher
Assistant Head teacher
SENCO

SPPS

Co-Head teachers x2
Assistant Head teacher
SENCO

WCGS

Headmaster
Deputy Head teacher x2
Assistant Head teacher x3

Each Local Governing Body (LGB) has a Chair, Vice Chair and Lead Governors who all support and
challenge the school in specific areas of school evaluation and development. Each LGB has two
committees to oversee the school. These are LGB Education Committees which looks at Quality of
Education and Outcomes of Pupils and LGB People Committees which looks at Personal Development,
Behaviour and Welfare of students and staff as well as Health and Safety (including Safeguarding). Each
committee meets once each term to oversee progress against specific development objectives and agreed
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). There are six meetings in total. All minutes from LGB meetings are
made available within a centrally held and secure area to the Trust Board.
Folio Trust Board oversees the work of the LGBs. The Trust Board holds overall decision making
responsibility for all schools within the Trust, (See published Scheme of Delegation) while matters relating
to curriculum, behaviour and teaching and learning routines and procedures are delegated to the LGBs and
SLTs of each school. The Trust Board retains more strategic oversight of matters such as:
Setting Financial Budgets and the Trust Levy for Central Shared Services.
All major service contracts to maximise purchasing power and economies of scale.
All major significant capital projects.
Shared Services such as Financial Management, HR services, Legal services and IT support.
Remuneration of staff salaries and appraisal and capability mechanisms.

7

"$ !#  

 " 

Folio Education Trust
Trustees’ Report
Arrangements for setting pay and remuneration of key management personnel
The key management personnel of the Trust responsible for directing and controlling the MAT comprise the
Trustees and Trust Executive Leadership Team. The Trustees receive no remuneration for their role as
Trustees.
The Trust Board has a subcommittee named the Remuneration Committee which receives moderation
reports from the CEO which ensure equity across the organisation with regards to appraisal and
performance management. Pay award recommendations are received through the CEO from the Head
teachers and these are then approved through delegation from the Trust Board by the Remuneration
Committee. The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for moderating the appraisal and
performance management of those staff within the central Trust staff and the executive. Executive pay
awards are recommended by the Remuneration Committee to the Trust Board for approval. While the CEO
line manages the CFO and COO, making recommendations for their pay awards the CEO’s pay award is
decided upon in the CEO’s absence. The CEO is line managed by the Chair of the Trust Board.

Chief Executive Officer / Chief Finance Officer / Chief Operations Officer
The Trust is currently creating a new Executive Pay Policy to articulate the approach with regards to
Executive Pay. This is supported by work done across the sector by the Confederation of School Trusts
(CST).
Folio Head of School / Head teachers
The arrangements for Headteachers are set out in the Folio Pay Policy.
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Folio Education Trust
Trustees’ Report
Trade Union Facility Time
Relevant Union Officials
Number of employees who were relevant union
officials during the relevant period
3

Full-time equivalent employee number

Percentage of time
0%
0%-3%
1%-50%

Number of employees
0
3
0

Total cost of facility time
Total Pay bill
Percentage of pay bill spent o facility time

£3,505
£13,362,000
0.026%

Time spent on paid trade union activities as a
percentage of total paid facility time hours

0%

3

Related Parties and other Connected Charities and Organisations
The Trust is a member of the Partnership of Sutton Secondary Schools (PSSS or Sutton Alliance), which
includes autonomous converter schools and maintained schools within the London Borough of Sutton. The
Trust is a member of this group because of Wallington County Grammar School (WCGS). The Trust is also
a member of the Croydon Head Teachers Association (CHTA) because it has three schools (CWS, PHJS &
SPPS) within Croydon Local Authority. These Partnerships work together for the benefit of all their students
and the young people of Croydon, Sutton and surrounding areas working collectively on matters of shared
interest and co-operating with the Local Authority (LA) and local primary schools, secondary schools and
special schools. The Trust continues to purchase some services from the LA (Croydon & Sutton) under
normal business arrangements. The Trust always seeks value for money. An example of this would be that
Governor Training is currently procured from Croydon Octavo Services. During 2020/21 Folio Education
Trust was a significant contributor to the Sutton Alliance Review process which organised peer review visits
to other Sutton schools supporting school evaluation, development and assessing the effectiveness of
school improvement strategies.
The Trust has a subsidiary company, Folio Services Ltd (FSL), which was formed to manage the hire of
school facilities and provision of the Coombe Wood Cafe, as well as any other trade or business which can
be carried on in connection with or ancillary to any business of the Trust.
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Folio Education Trust
Trustees’ Report
Engagement with employees (including disabled persons)
All Folio schools have a number of features to assist with the dissemination of information, which are used
depending on the type of details being shared, e.g.
1. staff intranet for policies, departmental information, safeguarding, welfare, in summary
for reference information
2. school websites for publicly available information and vacancies (latter directed to by
sharing internal staff vacancy bulletin)
3. weekly staff briefings either by regular meeting or online (Covid rules)
4. a collective email distribution group for teaching and non-teaching employees, and for the
central service team, for information that needs sharing on a scheduled basis
5. email announcements that share good news or celebrate achievements or as an alert for
safeguarding etc.
All Folio Schools conduct surveys with stakeholder groups which includes employees. These surveys are
regular and conducted online for ease of completion and analysis. The staff survey asks a range of
questions but the Trust expects that staff are asked ‘Are you happy at work?’ and ‘Would you recommend
this school to a colleague or friend to work in?’. These questions are important for the Trust to gauge how
successful their people strategy is and that it promotes the importance of staff well-being. Through a
cascading arrangement of performance management, all staff should have an awareness of how their
contribution feeds into school development and success
Significant amounts of student/pupil performance data are generated, analysed, acted upon and monitored
and reviewed as part of the annual operation of the schools; successful strategies are subsequently shared
as part of the professional development programmes that are scheduled throughout the year and noted
through performance management. Public exam results, external reviews and Ofsted Inspections all inform
on academic progress the outcomes of which are shared through appropriate channels.
All our recruitment materials stipulate and refer to the Equal Opportunities policy and its guidelines for
example
1. the Equal Opportunities statement on the advertisement part of the application form inviting
people to notify us (in confidence) of any adjustments required for them to be appropriately
considered in the selection process
2. flexibility on hours to accommodate conditions if required
3. training and promotion would be done on the basis of needs and performance based
evidence, regardless of disability.
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Folio Education Trust
Trustees’ Report
Engagement with suppliers, customers and others in a business relationship with the Trust
The Trust has fostered business relationship with suppliers, customers and others by:
x
x
x
x
x

conducting regular meetings with suppliers to review contracts/services provided
acting according to the PPN notices and giving due consideration of supplier’s positions
during the Covid-19 pandemic
regularly communicating with the school’s customers to ensure that they are well informed
as to the availability of the school’s resources for their usage
regularly communicating with students to ensure that they are well informed regarding all
school matters
regular communications with parents, including daily/weekly updates during summer
lockdown

Promoting the success of the company
The Trust has taken the following actions to promote the success of the company:
x

x
x
x
x
x
x
x

Ensured that there is robust financial management in all schools, and that there are
systems in place to support this, and investigated processes and options to improve
financial efficiency
Recruited and retained the best teaching and support staff
Ensured that there are robust safeguarding policies within schools
Identified shared opportunities for CPD and curriculum and resource planning to
strengthen the quality of teaching and learning and its impact on students’ progress
Developed and implemented Trust wide ICT strategy and programmes to continually
improve ICT hardware and software to deliver desired outcomes
Investigated further funding opportunities where applicable.
Ensured the Trust has management capacity to deliver sustained improvement and
growth.
Ensured that each school, as well as the Trust itself, has dynamic Risk Registers which
are regularly reviewed and discussed to ensure mitigation is in place where possible.

Objectives and Activities

What do we believe as an organisation?
We believe in the power of collaboration and the importance of developing schools who instil ambition and
the desire in every staff member and every young person to discover and achieve their personal best,
overcoming any challenge they may face. The Trust is committed to the pursuit of excellence, with young
people at the heart of everything we do and personal wellbeing prioritised at every stage. We believe in
ourselves. We believe in each other.
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Folio Education Trust
Trustees’ Report
Our Mission and Purpose – why do we exist?
To provide inspiring and safe places to learn, where young people are respected, their talents nurtured and
where they are able to thrive. Folio Schools offer young people the best chance to lead happy, healthy lives
and to be responsible, active citizens.
In Folio Schools;

Young people are healthy and happy.
Young people feel safe.
Young people have good relationships.
Young people become active and involved in school life and the wider
world.

Strategic Report
All Folio Schools felt the impact of COVID-19 and all children will therefore have made less than expected
progress despite work and investment in blended learning.
In response to the pandemic Folio Education Trust appointed three new Trustees who were to lead in the
following three areas:
Digital Learning Strategy: Curriculum Intent and Implementation
Education Strategy: Outcomes for Pupils and Collaborative School Improvement Model
People Strategy: Well-being of all staff, students and volunteers – being an employer of choice.
All Folio Schools adjusted their School Development Plans for 2020/2021 to reflect any strategic objectives
that were not met during 2019/2020 because of the pandemic and have all prioritise the recovery
curriculum for those children whose expected levels of progress are a concern. All Folio Schools are
carefully allocating additional COVID related funding to ensure there is evidence of impact. COVID Catch
Up funding statements, Sports Premium Strategy and the school’s Pupil Premium Strategy are all in place
on school websites to demonstrate the impact of targeted funding streams.
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Folio Education Trust
Trustees’ Report
Coombe Wood School: Self Evaluation Summary 2020/2021 for Quality of Education

Coombe Wood School was expecting its first Section 5 Ofsted inspection during 2020/2021 but due to
COVID this has been delayed to 2021/2022.
During 2020/2021 the school had children in Years 7, 8 & 9 and so they are not yet taking external
examinations such as GCSEs and A Levels. All assessment is internal and the school is using teacher
assessed progress grades to conduct targeted intervention.
Success Priorities for the school in 2020/2021 were as follows:
¾
¾
¾
¾
¾
¾
¾
¾
¾
¾
¾
¾
¾

Quality Assured curriculum narratives in place for all subject areas.
A successful online careers programme to help support Year 9s make their GCSE option choices.
A broad and balanced curriculum offer in place for Key Stage 4.
Preparations for the opening of Coombe Wood Sixth Form in September 2021.
CPD for staff on the key routines and procedures at CWS e.g. The BIG SIX
Successful monitoring ‘developmental drop-ins’ DDIs to help support new and existing staff in the
delivery of Teaching & Learning strategies.
Monitor and present Effort/Conduct/Organisation data to stakeholders to help triangulate pupil
progress.
Transition Group model continues to support children who are not secondary ready and to support
them to close progress gaps.
Subject Leaders are trained examiners to support the launch of GCSE courses in September 2021.
Assessment, Recording and Reporting Cycle is in place to ensure there is good communication
between the school and families.
The schools Literacy Policy continues to drive forward student reading ages identifying where
appropriate targeted intervention.
The school continues to be ready to deliver live learning for groups of children who may have to study
at home.
Focus on the academic progress of groups of students such as those identified as more vulnerable
and abler learners.

Coombe Wood School – Development Objectives for 2020/2021
Priority 1:

Respond to the impact of COVID-19.

Priority 2:

Further development of SEND and LAC provision.

Priority 3:

Development of Sixth Form model to allow for opening well in September 2021.

Priority 4:

Development of daily routine, rules and procedures to allow for effective transition
into the temporary St Andrew’s site and the CWS permanent building for students
and staff.

Priority 5:

Further development of continuing professional development (CPD) and wellbeing offer for
all staff.
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Folio Education Trust
Trustees’ Report
Park Hill Junior School: Self Evaluation Summary 2020/2021 for Quality of Education
Park Hill Junior School was visited by Ofsted in January 2020 as part of a Section 8 inspection. This was
very successful and inspectors felt that the school was outstanding. This required a subsequent Section 5
inspection during 2020/2021 but due to the COVID-19 pandemic this did not take place. The school
therefore expects to receive a Section 5 inspection either during 2021/2022 or 2022/2023 when school
inspection has resumed normality.
During 2020 / 2021 the school achieved the following ‘Teacher Assessed’ progress measures for Key
Stage 2:
2020/2021 - Year 6 end of Key Stage 2 performance achievement data:
Progress (expected progress = 3.0)
All children (88)
Pupil Premium (27)
SEND (13)

Reading
3.42
3.30
3.85

Writing
3.48
3.37
3.54

Maths
3.29
3.30
3.38

2019 – 2021 - Year 6 end of Key Stage 2 Attainment trend:
2019
Reading
Writing
Mathematics
Combined

Expected
Standard
83%
86%
91%
80%

2020
Greater
Depth
51%
29%
50%
25%

Expected
Standard
89%
87%
89%
83%

2021
Greater
Depth
54%
33%
49%
29%

Expected
Standard
76%
72%
72%
63%

Greater
Depth
41%
28%
43%
13%

N.B. – There has been no national benchmarking comparison data during the COVID-19 pandemic. These
are therefore Teacher Assessed Grades moderated by the Local Authority.
Success Priorities for the school in 2020/2021 were as follows:
¾
¾
¾
¾
¾

¾
¾

Delivering a curriculum which is tailored to the ‘whole child’ and promotes the schools’ aims of
preparing pupils with the knowledge and skills for their future.
100% of our teachers are rated ‘effective’ or ‘highly effective’ with 83% being ‘highly effective’ at the
end of the 2020-21 academic year.
Teachers and support staff show passion and enthusiasm for the ‘whole child’ which encourages
pupils to be highly motivated and engaged both in and outside of their classrooms. This is reflected in
the wide variety of interventions, before & after school.
Teaching is highly effective as lessons are well planned in line with the ambition of the national
curriculum. Lessons are taught in a logical order so that pupils develop their skills and know and
remember more. (Ofsted 01/20)
Ofsted HMI stated in the last Ofsted report that it was clear that teachers deliver the subject content
that leaders intend, with great impact. Those with Special Educational Needs (in-year data 2020) and
those receiving the PPG are on an upward trajectory as gaps in achievement are being closed
successfully.
Reading is a priority and pupils understand how important it is for their future. But pupils also read for
their enjoyment. For example, pupils review the books they read and star rate them.
Though most Y3 pupils' starting points are lower than expected due to the Infants-Juniors transition,
they do catch up by the time they get to the end of Y4 and our Y6 outcomes trend shows that teaching
and learning is of a high standard.
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Trustees’ Report
Park Hill Junior School – Development Objectives for 2020/2021
Priority 1:

Respond to the impact of COVID-19

Priority 2:

To ensure our September 2020 curriculum enables all groups of pupils to make progress in
the foundation subjects.

Priority 3:

To enhance our pupils’ core skills (Literacy & Numeracy) to give them the tools to develop
their fluency.

Priority 4:

To ensure that the needs of our changing community are reflected in our provision.

St Peter’s Primary School: Self Evaluation Summary 2020/2021 for Quality of Education
St. Peter’s Primary School was visited by Ofsted in October 2019 as part of a Section 8 inspection. This
was very successful and inspectors felt that the school remained ‘good’.
During 2020 / 2021 the school achieved the following ‘Teacher Assessed’ progress measures for Key
Stage 2:
2020/2021 - Year 6 end of Key Stage 2 performance achievement data:
Progress (expected progress = 3.0)
All children (60)
Pupil Premium (12)
SEND (10)

Reading
4.1
4.15
3.7

Writing
4.05
4.05
3.5

Maths
4.05
4.45
3.7

2019 – 2021 - Year 6 end of Key Stage 2 Attainment trend:
2019
Reading
Writing
Mathematics
Combined

Expected
Standard
64%
73%
85%
59%

Greater
Depth
27%
15%
27%
8%

2020*
Expected
Greater
Standard
Depth
78%
49%
74%
21%
85%
46%
66%
15%

2021
Expected
Standard
91%
75%
85%
72%

Greater
Depth
43%
27%
35%
22%

N.B. – There has been no national benchmarking comparison data during the COVID-19 pandemic. These
are therefore Teacher Assessed Grades moderated by the Local Authority.
* The school made the decision to not conduct a summative assessment in the absence of SATS. The
school experienced considerable challenges during periods of school closure. Formative assessment led to
targeted academic intervention to identify and support the most vulnerable children. The statistics above
are a projected Teacher Assessed flightpath.
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Trustees’ Report
Success Priorities for the school in 2020/2021 were as follows:
¾

¾
¾

¾

¾

The school is focused upon those children whose academic progress has been affected by the
COVID-19 pandemic. Using targeted funding and intervention strategies the school is looking carefully
at how best to support more vulnerable groups of children.
Curriculum has been designed to be broad and balanced and to ensure that children are excited about
their learning
Phonics results in 2020 show that 82% of pupils achieved the expected standard in Y1 and 95% of
pupils achieved the expected standard by the end of Y2. This demonstrates that our phonics teaching
is highly effective in teaching children to blend and decode.
At the end of Key Stage 1, the % of children at EXS is above national, with writing and maths
significantly above. This demonstrates good progress from their starting points.
Teachers introduce pupils to new subject content in a logical order that helps pupils to build their
understanding and remember important knowledge.

St. Peter’s Primary School – Development Objectives 2020/2021
Priority 1:

To ensure the return to school following the easing of Covid-19 restrictions takes place
considering the medical risks and future wellbeing and education of our children.

Priority 2:

To develop and focus on a whole school framework for emotional well-being and mental
health of our school community.

Priority 3:

To ensure that there is a thorough and consistent approach to the planning and teaching of
reading and spelling across the school.

Priority 4:

To ensure that our curriculum offer is effective in providing progression, coverage and
creativity and allows for a smooth transition between classes and Key Stages.

Priority 4:

To ensure that the provision for those children with a high level of need, (in particular those
moving from R to Y1) is managed carefully in terms of support, curriculum and working
space upon their return to school following the school closure due to Covid 19 and also
from their current class to their new year group. To ensure that the transition of our new
Reception pupils from preschool to Reception is managed sensitively, taking account of
Government advice and restrictions.
Further develop ‘Dyslexia Friendly Classroom’ strategies and resources across the school.
Develop the teaching of vocabulary within classrooms to support children with SLCN.
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Wallington County Grammar School: Self Evaluation Summary 2020/2021 for Quality of Education

Wallington County Grammar School was last visited by Ofsted in January 2017 and was judged to be
‘outstanding’. The school expects to receive another visit during 2021/2022 or 2022/2023.

During 2020/2021 the school achieved the following ‘Teacher Assessed’ attainment measures:
WCGS A Level Results:
Grade

3 year average / trend
% of grades awarded
16%
49%
78%
91%

A*
A
B
C

Actual results in 2021
55.56%
81.22%
94.37%
98.44%

98.44% of all grades are therefore A* - C which represent the highest results for the last three years.
WCGS GCSE Results:
Grade
9
8
7
6
5

3 year average / trend
% of grades awarded
22.0%
49.00%
67.00%
90.00%
98.00%

Actual results in 2021
35.47%
59.63%
80.92%
92.53%
97.37%

92.53% of all grades are therefore 9 - 6 which represent the highest results for the last three years.
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¾

¾

¾

¾

¾

The School is highly successful in delivering a highly academic curriculum that: promotes depth and
the value of scholarship; is broad to ensure students are ‘future proof’ by teaching them how to think
across a range of disciplines; develops our core values of commitment, compassion, courage and
creativity; and prepares students to participate and lead in Great Britain's democracy;
100% of teachers are rated ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ with 59% being ‘outstanding’ at the end of the
2020-21 academic year and the School is working effectively with new staff to train them up to these
high standards as quickly as possible. These judgements have been informed and quality assured by:
appraisal evidence including learning observations, drop ins and work samples; regular SLT quality
assurance meetings; paired observations (which are the norm); Subject Area Reviews and annual
external quality assurance reviews;
The passion and enthusiasm of our teachers encourages students to be highly motivated and
engaged both in and outside of lessons. This is reflected in the wide variety of academic clubs and
societies on offer and their exceptionally high attendance;
Teaching is highly personalised and challenging with ‘Deep Thinking Challenges’ being used to push
the most-able students ‘out of the comfort zone’;
Our curriculum has an extremely high impact with students achieving a Value Added/Progress8 score
within the top 4% of schools nationally for the last six years and those with Special Educational Needs
being in the top 4% of all students nationally in 2020 (2021 performance tables cancelled).

Wallington County Grammar School Development Objectives 2020/2021
Priority 1:

Curriculum: Design, sequence and implement a recovery curriculum that allows all
students to learn effectively and reach their potential following the COVID 19 pandemic.

Priority 2:

Teaching: Carefully manage the cognitive load of students during retrieval practice
activities, ensuring these always link into what new information will be learned in the lesson
to help students build schemas. Ensure activities take place independently in silence when
there is a risk of cognitive overload.

Priority 3:

To ensure staff and student wellbeing.

Priority 4:

Clubs and Societies: Ensure clubs and societies support our curriculum intent
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Other Activities within Folio Education Trust
The Multi-Academy Trust was set up to support schools and therefore the development of young people in
the area local to Croydon and Sutton. It has enabled the Trust to deliver a new Free School in South
Croydon (Coombe Wood School) which opened in September 2018.
Through the delivery of Coombe Wood School, Folio Education Trust is exploring the delivery of specific
sports to benefit the local community through a Community Use Agreement signed by Sport England and
Croydon Council.
Coombe Wood School welcomed its third cohort in 2020/2021 and so its Pupil Admission Number
increased to 540 children on roll (Year 7, 8 and Year 9). Coombe Wood remains a significant expansion
project for the Trust and has in September 2021 opened its Sixth Form as well as welcoming another
cohort of Year 7 children. At the time of this report being signed, the school has children in five Year
Groups.

Year
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025

CoombeWoodSchoolͲPupilAdmissionNumber(PAN)ModelOctober2021

Year7
Year8
Year9
Year10
Year11
Year12
Year13
Total
180 





180
180
180 




360
180
180
180 



540
180
180
180
180 
80 
800
180
180
180
180
180
80
80 1060
180
180
180
180
180
240
80 1220
180
180
180
180
180
240
240 1380
180
180
180
180
180
240
240 1380

The school moved from temporary accommodation in January 2021 into its permanent building.
Other activities within Folio Education Trust include smaller strategic projects to help expand the
organisation to support more schools.
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Public Benefit
The Trust’s Trustees confirm that they have complied with their duty to have due regard to the guidance on
public benefit published by the Charity Commission exercising their powers of duties. The previous
discussion regarding objectives and activities demonstrate how the public benefit test has been met.

Going Concern
After taking into account the most recent 3 year plan, making appropriate enquiries, and considering the
effects of the Covid pandemic, the board of Trustees has a reasonable expectation that the Trust has
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
In ensuring that this expectation remains valid, the Trustees have noted the following within the 3 year plan:
x

x
x

Costs remain high compared to the Trust's financial KPIs in the areas of 'Staffing as a % GAG &
Other Govt Grants'. This is a risk, and a strategic priority for the trust in 2021/22 is to consistently
achieve a range of 80-82% for this KPI.
Trust costs as a % GAG & Other Govt Grants, at 5.6%, is higher than desired and a level of 5%
should be achieved within the short to medium term.
Inherent uncertainties will continue including; The continuing impact of Covid; student numbers in
Coombe Wood Sixth form; Trading performance of commercial ventures; lifecycle replacement of
ICT & Facilities.

Taking this into account, as well as the availability of resources, the Trustees conclude that it is reasonable
to continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. Further details
regarding the adoption of the going concern basis can be found in the Statement of Accounting Policies.
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Financial Review
Most of the Trust`s income is obtained from the Department for Education (DfE) in the form of recurrent
and capital grants, the use of which is restricted to particular purposes. The grants received during the
period and the associated expenditure are shown as restricted funds in the Statement of Financial Activities
(SOFA).
Grants received for capital purposes are shown on the SOFA as restricted fixed asset funds. The balance
sheet fixed asset fund is reduced by depreciation charges over the expected useful life of the asset.
Grants and donations have also been given to the Trust, mainly from parents who donate on a regular
basis, to supplement grant income. This income is usually used to cover running costs of co-curricular
activities that are additional to the basic school activities but are considered important for expanding pupil
opportunities, it is shown as unrestricted income in the SOFA.
Income from catering and extended school services was significantly impacted in the year due to school
closures as a result of Covid 19. Catering income in the year did show some improvement on the previous
year but was still £70k below pre-pandemic levels, while Income from Extended Services was £175k less
than the 2018/19 level. As this income is generally used to fund the salaries of staff running these services
the Trust furloughed a number of employees under the Job Retention Scheme and received £69k through
the scheme. Performance in these areas is very closely monitored by the executive team, and performance
in the early part of the new academic year has so far been very encouraging, and appears to be returning
to pre Covid levels.
In accordance with the Charities SORP, grants and donations received for specific purposes are shown in
the SOFA as restricted funds.
Fixed Assets purchased in the year have been funded by capital grants and donations received of
£72,313,000, which included £71,413,000 as the transfer valuation of Coombe Wood School Land and
Buildings from the Department of Education to the Trust, as well as a transfer from unrestricted funds of
£473k. At 31 August 2021, the net book value of fixed assets was £99m and movements in tangible fixed
assets are shown in Note 13 to the financial statements. The assets are used primarily for providing the
Trusts’ educational operations and associated support services to the pupils of the Trust. During the year
the Trust took ownership of the Land and Buildings of Coombe Wood School under a 125 year leasehold
agreement from the London Borough of Croydon at a value of £71,413,000. The Trust also received £60k
worth of IT equipment from the Department of Education which consisted of laptops and SIM based Wi-Fi
routers loaned to students to enable them to be educated remotely during school closures. Both of these
items have been shown as donated assets.
The Education & Skills Funding Agency commission Land & Property valuation of schools, the prime
purpose of which is to fulfil a departmental commitment to HM Treasury to provide a balance sheet value
for inclusion in the Whole of Government Accounts 2016/17. The valuations were undertaken based on a
desktop review of information publicly available. The Trust has applied these valuations to Land and
Buildings of Wallington County Grammar School, Park Hill Junior School and St Peters Primary School as
shown in the balance sheet and adjusted it to allow for any additions in subsequent years.
The Trust held fund balances at 31 August 2021 of £92m which consisted of £99.5m being the value of
Fixed Assets, £35,000 of general restricted funds, £252,000 of Unrestricted Reserves and the deficit on the
defined benefit pension schemes of £7,772,000. Folio Services Ltd had a negative balance of £136,409,
and in addition owes £249k to the trust in respect of operational expenses incurred during 2020/21. The
purposes of the restricted funds are set out in Note 18.
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Reserves Policy
Maintaining an appropriate level of financial reserves is considered essential in protecting the Trust from
financial risk generated by, for example;
i income reduction due to Government funding changes
i unexpected falls or shortfall in student numbers
i Lost Catering and Extended Services revenue due to any resurgence in the Covid 19 pandemic
i cash flow issues due to delays in receipt of funding
i emergencies
As the MAT expands we will look to fund the expansion by driving further financial efficiency savings by
means of a shared services offering across schools within the MAT and the increased purchasing power
that increased size brings with it.
In general, it is considered prudent to maintain a level of useable reserves sufficient to cover unexpected
and unplanned events so that the Trusts’ primary objective is preserved. At the same time, the Trust
wishes to ensure that it uses its funding to benefit the students in its care which implies an imperative to
consider actively the use of reserves to enhance educational provision. Trustees will monitor levels of
reserves in financial reports provided by the Chief Financial Officer and in the audited annual financial
statements. Trustees will aim for a prudent level of reserves to be maintained, bearing in mind the recurrent
spending needs to ensure high quality provision. In deciding the level of reserves Trustees will take into
account the following:
¾

one month salary bill

¾

the Trust’s annual budget

¾

the need for any large project spend such as facilities development or building condition needs

¾

any uncertainty, turbulence or expected reduction in funding arrangements, including the level of
transitional protection within the school funding and its expiry date

¾

anticipated funding over the next three years.

This policy will be reviewed annually.
The Trust has inherited a significant deficit from the Local Government Pension Schemes. The value of the
liabilities and the deficit are highly influenced by the actuarial assumptions, and current asset values are
depressed due to current economic conditions. Parliament has agreed, at the request of the Secretary of
State for Education, to a guarantee that, in the event of school closure, outstanding local government
pension scheme liabilities would be met by the Department for Education. The guarantee came into force
on 18 July 2013.
The Trust’s pension reserve is reporting a deficit at 31 August 2021 of £7,772,000, compared to a deficit at
31 August 2020 of £5,665,000.
The Trust has Other Restricted Reserves of £35,000. The purpose of these reserves is disclosed in Note
18.
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Tangible fixed assets are all held for use by the Trust, hence are not included in the reserves policy. The
Trusts’ cash reserves at 31 August 2021 are £1,237,000.

Although the total reserves available to the Trust at the end of the year (2%) are below the level of 5-8% of
GAG & Other Government Grant Revenue that has been set in the reserves policy, the Board is assured by
the Executive that the expected performance of the Trust in the current 3 year plan will see reserves
recover to be in line with expectations. The investment made in sports facilities at Coombe Wood School is
planned to rebuild these reserves over the next few years and our current 3 year plan shows us edging
back towards the lower end of our stated reserves policy. The assumptions in the sports lettings and Café
model are realistic and without a reoccurrence of significant Covid 19 impact, it is hoped these will be
exceeded.

Investment Policy
Trustees are firmly committed to ensuring that all funds under their control are administered in such a way
as to maximise return while minimising risk. Trustees do not consider the investment of surplus funds as a
primary activity, but rather a requirement for the effective management of the various funds entrusted to the
Board. Trustees' management of cash flow should ensure that there are always sufficient funds in the main
bank accounts to cover operational costs. Banks must be selected from approved banks included in the
Financial Services Compensation Scheme (FSCS). Trustees will seek to ensure that any cash not required
for operating expenses is placed on deposit at the most favourable rate. Arrangements for deposits may
include, but are not limited to Treasury Bonds and CCLA Deposit Accounts. Deposit account providers
must be selected from the approved banks covered by the Financial Services Compensation Scheme
(FSCS) or from the CCLA.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties
The Trust practices, through its Board of Trustees and the constituted sub-committees (Finance
Management, Risk & Audit Committee), risk management principles. Any major risks highlighted at any
sub-committee are brought to the main board with proposed mitigating actions and they continue to be
actively reported until the risk is adequately mitigated. The Board of Trustees accepts managed risk as an
inevitable part of its operations but maintains an objective not to run unacceptable levels of risk in any area.
The subjective nature of the process requires major risks to be resolved by the Board of Trustees
collectively, whilst minor risks are dealt with by the Senior Management Team within the school. The
principal risks facing the Trust are:
¾

Reputational risk - mitigated by maintaining good relations with local stakeholders, improving
standards in learning and behaviour, and providing a broad-based and relevant curriculum.

¾

Performance risk - mitigated by monitoring each student's progress at each Key Stage and providing
additional resources as necessary.

¾

Financial risk - the principal risks here are a reduction in student numbers, reductions in central
government funding, unbudgeted increases in teaching or support staff costs or unbudgeted major
capital repairs. The risks here are mitigated by careful budget planning and monitoring and by holding
sufficient reserves to cover challenging financial circumstances.

¾

Risks associated with personnel - mitigated by ensuring that the school has correct recruitment and
performance management procedures, and that all staff are supported, motivated and valued.

To support the Trust in its response to the COVID-19 pandemic careful monitoring of the impact within
each school, both on students and staff, ensured that appropriate measures were taken to minimise impact
and maintain as closely as possible a consistent delivery of teaching and learning. Significant effort was put
into ensuring that online teaching could be as effective as possible and resources provided both by the
school and the DfE were deployed to ensure that all students had access. The Trust continued to supply
food vouchers to vulnerable families using the government and Local Authority provided schemes.
Significant covid catch up funding was made available to the Trust during the year, and this was closely
monitored and measured to ensure maximum impact in delivering support for students to extend progress
Risk associated with the impact of the virus on staff was mitigated as far as possible through working with
HR retained services who advised on how best to support Clinically Extremely Vulnerable staff. The arrival
of the vaccinations available from early 2021 eased matters considerably and helped minimise the overall
effect within the staff body.
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Fundraising
The Trust is grateful for the continued support of donors, including parents, in the form of donations and
subscriptions.
The Trust does not actively solicit donations from the public and therefore is not registered with the
Fundraising Regulator and does not subscribe to any fundraising codes of practice. When donations from
individuals are received, the Trust protects personal data and would never sell data or swap data with other
organisations. During 2020/21, the Trust received no complaints about fundraising activities.
Folio Schools will have all experienced continued disruption in their fundraising capacity due to the COVID19 pandemic. Schools were running Year Group bubbles which would limit the opportunity for school wide
fundraising initiatives which involved children of different year groups mixing. The PTFA – Parent Teachers
and Friends Association limited their activities due to social distancing and COVID-19 restrictions.
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Report

UK Greenhouse gas emission and energy use data for the period
1 September 2020 to 31 August 2021

1 Sept 2020
to 31 Aug
2021

1 Sept 2019
to 31 Aug
2020

Energy consumption used to calculate emissions (kWh)

3,035,806

1,786,191

354

210

3

3

357

213

230

146

Business travel in employee owned vehicles

1

1

Total gross emissions in metric tonnes CO2e

588

360

0.25

0.16

Scope 1 emissions in metric tonnes CO2e
Gas consumption
Owned transport – mini-buses
Total scope 1
Scope 2 emissions in metric tonnes CO2e
Purchased electricity
Scope 3 emissions in metric tonnes CO2e

Intensity ratio
Tonnes CO2 per pupil
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Quantification and Reporting Methodology
We have followed the 2019 HM Government Environmental Reporting Guidelines. We have also used the
GHG Reporting Protocol – Corporate Standard and have used the 2021 UK Government’s Conversion
Factors for Company Reporting.
Intensity measurement
The chosen intensity measurement ratio is total emissions in metric tonnes CO2e per pupil, the
recommended ratio for the sector.
Measures taken to improve energy efficiency
The schools within the Trust have all taken significant initiatives over the last 5 years to improve energy
efficiency with the installation of LED lighting in all locations, effective provision of energy efficient double
glazing in all schools, and the adoption of significant energy efficiency initiatives in all the capital updating
projects undertaken. Our brand new free school has incorporated the latest energy efficiency technology in
its construction, and all schools incorporate at least an element of solar power.
As can be noted from the report above, our intensity ratio per pupil has increased significantly year on year.
This is due to the fact that in 2019/20 Coombe Wood School was based in Portakabins which were heated
and powered by energy that was charged for within the temporary facilities provision, paid for by the DfE. In
2020/21 the school was based for the first term in temporary accommodation, and then for Spring &
Summer in our new facility, and in both facilities the school was paying energy costs itself. The figure will
also be distorted by the fact that the new facility was built to accommodate 1,680 pupils, and at present
there are less than 800 pupils. This ratio will reduce again once the pupil numbers increase.
With respect to other measures, the Trust is encouraging the use of electric vehicles in the provision of 20
active, and a further 20 passive charging points at Coombe Wood School. We have also recognised the
ease at which meetings can be handled remotely due to the restrictions of Covid 19, and are now actively
encouraging greater use of this technology to reduce emission & energy usage associated with car
journeys.
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Plans for Future Periods for Folio Education Trust

Our Vision and Goals – where will we be by 2025?
By 2025, we aim to establish a wider family of collaborative Primary and Secondary Schools supporting over
5,000 young people and 500 staff all working towards the following outcomes;

¾

Goal #1 - We will deliver outstanding educational standards across all Folio Schools ensuring we have
the capacity to create a sustainable and collaborative model of school improvement which continually
evaluates, develops and celebrates success.

¾

Goal #2 - We will recognise the rights of all young people ensuring that daily school life gives children
the best chance to lead happy, healthy lives and the opportunity to become responsible, active citizens.

¾

Goal #3 - We will be an employer of choice, providing good people management, transformational
leadership and opportunities for all staff to fulfil their potential. We will recognise the importance of
investing in staff and focussing upon people’s well-being

¾

Goal #4 - We will provide a shared services model for all Folio Schools which listens, understands and
anticipates the needs of the people that are being served. Through a process of identifying and mitigating
risks we will deliver excellent value for money and efficient resource management.

A key feature of the Trust’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic was the way in which Folio Schools
collaborated to reduce the risks and impact. Folio Headteachers joined together in a working group which
shared strategies to mitigate COVID-19 risks and were joined by Trustees and senior Trust executives
During 2020/2021 Folio Education Trust looked at the merits of merging with another Multi-Academy Trust.
This was aided by the pandemic creating an opportunity of reflection and evaluation. The key drivers for a
potential merger would be to enhance the quality of education for children through increased collaboration of
staff over a greater number of schools and to ensure better value for money through the Trusts’ business
support services which would include catering, financial management, estate management and shared IT
and HR services.
As the Trust approached 2021/2022, Trustees started a process of building a new set of collaborative strategic
goals which could be measured. It is planned that these are in place and approved by the Board in December
2021.
The Trust will then continue to explore growth options which may include; organic growth, building new
provision, a merger or a take-over. All decisions will be made in the best interests of children.
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Funds Held as Custodian Trustee on Behalf of Others
The Trust holds £5,000 on behalf of the family of a former WCGS student, Jamal Ottun, which is to be used
to award a Scholarship to one of our sixth form students. The family participate in the selection of the
student to receive the award based upon recommendations from the school. The payment will be made in
the spring term of the student’s first year at University, and the family then intend to replace the fund for
subsequent years’ awards.
The Trust also administers funds on behalf of the Croydon School Sports Partnership, an organisation
based at Park Hill Junior School, which works to improve PE and school sport within the London Borough
of Croydon. At the 31st August 2021 funds held amounted to £83,000.

Auditor
Insofar as the Trustees are aware:
¾

there is no relevant audit information of which the charitable company’s auditor is unaware

¾

the Trustees have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the auditor is aware of that information.

Trustees’ report, incorporating a strategic report, was approved by order of the Board of Trustees, as the
company directors, on 17th December 2021 and signed on the board’s behalf by:
Signed
Mr D Herrick
Trustee

17th December 2021
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Scope of Responsibility
As Trustees we acknowledge we have overall responsibility for ensuring that Folio Trust has an effective
and appropriate system of control, financial and otherwise. However, such a system is designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can provide only
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The board of Trustees has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the Chief Executive Officer, as
accounting officer, for ensuring financial controls conform with the requirements of both propriety and good
financial management and in accordance with the requirements and responsibilities assigned to it in the
funding agreement between Folio Education Trust and the Secretary of State for Education. They are also
responsible for reporting to the board of Trustees any material weaknesses or breakdowns in internal
control.

Governance
The information on governance included here supplements that described in the Trustees’ Report and in
the Statement of Trustees’ Responsibilities. The Board maintains effective oversight over the Trust’s
finances and reviewing the reports of its dedicated Finance Management & Audit Committee 4 times a
year.
The Trust Board has met 12 times and the Finance Management & Audit Committee 7 times during the
year. 6 out of the 12 Trust Board meetings were extraordinary general meetings due to Covid. Attendance
during the year at meetings of the board of Trustees was as follows:

Trustee

PaulHuitson
JonathanWilden
DrTCrayford
MrsVJohn
MrsJSpeller
MissRBaylisͲWest
MrDHerrick
MrsHLatham
MsREvans
MrDRehal

FinanceManagement&Audit
Committee

TrustBoard
Meetings
Attended
11
12
12
12
11
10
12
12
10
3

Outofa
possible
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
5

Meetings
Attended
Ͳ
7
5
7
Ͳ
Ͳ
7
7
Ͳ
Ͳ

Outofa
possible
Ͳ
7
7
7
Ͳ
Ͳ
7
7
Ͳ
Ͳ

In addition to the meetings above each Trustee has now been assigned a Lead Governor role in line with
the key areas of School evaluation identified in the latest Ofsted Inspection Framework. Each Lead
Governor will meet with relevant Trust staff at least once a term to evaluate the effectiveness of each area.
A report will be provided to the Chair & CEO, and will be available for all other Trustees to review. Any
significant issues or concerns will be formally raised at the next Board meeting.
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In order to facilitate the above level of review, during the last academic year the Board carried out a skills
audit of its members, and as a result of this three new Trustees have been appointed during the academic
year to cover areas that required skills not obviously present on the current Board. It is the Trusts intention
that the skills audit tool will be used on a regular basis at both Trust and Local Governing Body level.
The data and evidence provided to the Board has also been extensively reviewed and new key
performance indicators are being developed in all areas of operations, and specifically in the area of
Finance the Board is adopting the Integrated Curriculum Planning Tool developed by the Institute of School
Business Leaders in conjunction with the Department for Education.
Towards the end of 2019/2020 the Trust conducted a Governance Review. This was carried out by the
Trusts’ internal assurance provider. A summary of its finding were:
Strengths:
The Trust’s board works to a clear, professional, and structured cycle of business with comprehensive
minutes, reports and record of actions taken. Board meetings are professionally clerked. The governance
system within the Trust is clearly described and operates at multiple levels through the Trust and locally at
school level. For a Trust in relative infancy, all governance processes were defined in detail and cohesive
in their relationship.
The development of a Governance Model, that reinforces the comprehensive scheme of delegation, is an
example of best practice.
Financial management is controlled centrally through a designed shared service model. The Board has
considered and implemented its processes for providing internal assurance.
Areas for development: (Progress made during 2020/2021)
The internal assurance provider made 5 recommendations:
That the benefits and drawbacks of head teachers’ attendance for the entirety of all board meetings be
reviewed, particularly in the light of any further Trust expansion. (Head teachers do not now attend all Trust
Board and Trust Committee meetings. This Trust is looking at ways to communicate between all Trustee
committees to improve communication)
That the duties of Members are included in the scheme of delegation and that specific responsibilities for
Members are considered as part of their terms of reference. (The Trust is looking at a Scheme of
Delegation review during January 2022 which will include the role of Members)
That the accountability lines for LGBS are clarified as there appears to be inconsistency between the
scheme of delegation and the published governance structure. (The Trust is looking to review its Scheme
of Delegation in January 2022 and is consulting on new Terms of Reference for its LGBs)
That the LGBs’ value added in respect of financial monitoring is clarified to ensure the intended reliance is
embedded in practice locally. (The Trust and in particular the FMARC meeting is revieing the financial
monitoring carried out within the LGBs)
That a Trustee induction pack be developed, signposting to sources of information, training, and advice,
and with an induction checklist that ensures all Trustees attain a consistent level of knowledge of the Trust’s
schools, policies, and processes. (A Trust induction pack is now in place)
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As it stands the ongoing review of the Trust has indicated further review is required of the following items:

a.)
b.)
c.)
d.)

Adopt the DfEs / ESFAs new model Articles.
Review and co-construct the Trust’s Scheme of Delegation
Review the Terms of Reference for all committees including LGBs
Enhance the communication between governance levels within the organisation to ensure that
Trustees and Local Governors understand the key development issues across all schools.

Review of Value for Money
As accounting officer, the Chief Executive Officer has responsibility for ensuring that the Trust delivers
good value in the use of public resources. The accounting officer understands that value for money refers
to the educational and wider societal outcomes achieved in return for the taxpayer resources received.
The accounting officer considers how the Trust’s use of its resources has provided good value for money
during each academic year, and reports to the board of Trustees where value for money can be improved,
including the use of benchmarking data where appropriate. The accounting officer for the Trust has
delivered improved value for money during the year by:
i

the economic, efficient and effective use of all the resources in their charge – for example to
produce better educational results;

i

the avoidance of waste and extravagance;

i

the prudent and economical administration of the organisation;

i

the establishment and maintenance of a system of financial governance, including sound internal
spending controls, keeping up to date financial records, continuous financial monitoring and timely
reporting;

i

Ensuring that all expenditure related to measures taken as a result of the Covid 19 pandemic are
clearly identifiable so that they could be reclaimed if allowed, or captured for exclusion in any future
benchmarking exercises.

i

Identifying opportunities for reducing staffing costs in areas funded by means of private funds, by
furloughing staff that we not required to provide services such as Catering & Wraparound care
whilst the schools were not in full operation during the year.

i

ensuring all financial transactions represent value for money.

i

Adherence to the principles of PPN02/20 and 04/20 in relation to supporting our long term service
contractors, and working with them to plan a sustainable programme which benefits all parties.

A key objective is to achieve value for money not only for the organisation itself but for the taxpayer more
generally. So whilst it involves a school living within its budget and using its resources properly and with
probity, it is primarily about how it continuously improves both the educational and wider societal outcomes
for its pupils with the resources available.
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With schools’ budgets continuing to come under pressure due to the financial constraints being placed
upon the public sector and increasing employment costs that have not been funded, it is essential that we
develop innovative ways of ensuring that monies are spent in the most effective ways to achieve the best
outcomes for the students.
1 . Maximisation of Efficiency within Curriculum Spending
One of the measures that the Trust has taken again this year is to set aside an unassigned pot of money
for curriculum spending by challenging each subject area to reduce their regular capitation by 25%. This
fund has then been made available for subject leaders to bid for during the year to ensure that monies are
spent in the areas requiring development rather than using what has been more generic or formulaic
calculation of what each department receives. In submitting their bids, the subject leaders are required to
indicate:
¾
¾
¾

How this investment will aid school improvement and improve teaching and learning
How success of the initiative will be monitored and impact measured
Finally, an evaluation is carried out and included in the subject area evaluation

This approach ensures a much more targeted approach of investing in areas of need that make a
measurable difference, whilst not starving departments of the funds necessary to deliver the core
objectives within their subjects.

2 . Collaboration Locally & Nationally
The Trust also takes a lead in a number of local initiatives targeted at driving improvement whilst
minimising cost to the school communities as a whole. A fantastic example of this is the Sutton Alliance
Review which is something which Wallington has taking a leading role in developing.
This review takes the form of a mini Ofsted style review of areas that the school in question wishes to be
examined, either because they think this is an area the believe to be already excellent and they wish to
confirm their own evaluation methodology, or an area they feel that they need assistance in, in order to
learn and improve by gathering specific input from other schools in preparation for any inspection that may
take place.
The reviews are carried out by senior leaders within the Sutton Alliance who rotate through the schools so
that they get experience of reviewing and being reviewed. As the schools’ own staff are being used, this
minimises overall cost, delivering great value for money and also creates a great means for training and
developing future leaders.
Another example of co-operation at this level that drives improvement and saves cost within the local
borough is the regular forum style meetings that take place for Head teachers, Deputy Head teachers, and
Business Managers. Each forum has its own targeted benefits with the Heads and Deputies looking to
drive improvement and innovation and with the Business Managers looking to work together to drive down
costs by collaboration and conducting benchmarking analysis.
With the transition to Multi-Academy Trust (MAT) status, initiatives have also been embarked upon to look
at MAT to MAT collaboration both within Sutton, and also looking outwards across the South East as we
look to expand.
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Benchmarking has continued at a local level to ensure that schools evaluate what staffing models are
working well within individual schools as well as sharing ideas for saving costs in any other innovative
ways. Wallington has extended this level of co-operation by also working closely with the Boys Academic
State Schools (BASS) group to help gather benchmarking data and ideas from schools across the country
whose profile more closely matches that of a school with a high achieving selective nature.
This involvement with BASS has also extended to sharing ideas with groups throughout the schools so
Heads, Deputies, Heads of Sixth Form and Subject areas also get together to share and learn from one
another in a very cost effective way.
In addition to this the Chief Executive Officer continues to be closely involved with the Grammar Schools
Heads Association.

3 . Centralisation of Back Office Functions
The Trust continues to operate a centralised model for the more cost effective and efficient delivery of back
office functions. This has achieved more streamlined systems functions to enable timely reporting and
therefore intervention in areas of concern. The effectiveness of these services is monitored via metrics
agreed by the Trustees which are reported on and reviewed on an annual basis.
In addition, the Trust has also invested in key staff whose role it is to drive Trust wide purchasing solutions,
and cost effective procurement. Significant savings have already been achieved in premises & catering
costs and further opportunities are being developed moving forward.
4 . Monitoring and Governance
All of these initiatives need to be closely monitored and evaluated and the school continues to work hard
with its Trustees and Local Governors to ensure transparency and deliver the appropriate level of
challenge.
The Trust uses Lead Governors to oversee specific areas of the schools performance and in particular the
Trusts Finance Management Risk & Audit Committee (FMARC) has continued to be of huge benefit to the
MAT with its ability to support and challenge key areas of income generation and spending, concentrating
on the following financial risk variables.
Work completed by the Executive and overseen by the FMARC.
¾
¾
¾
¾
¾
¾
¾

Teaching Staff supply costs
Administrative Staff supply costs
Subject Area capitation and printing costs
The performance of catering operation
The performance of extended services
Parental Financial Voluntary Contributions
Capital spending and premises costs

By focusing on these areas we have seen control of costs and an improvement in the support from our
parents which has allowed for greater investment in co-curricular activities; these have a huge impact on
the confidence and sense of achievement of our students.
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Continued attention to the higher spend areas of expenditure has led to a number of initiatives that have
helped us to achieve what we consider to be a very positive financial performance this year under difficult
financial conditions. This has also allowed us to set a budget that will enable us to weather this period of
challenge as we look to rebuild the MAT reserves and drive further financial efficiency savings by means of
a shared services offering across schools within the MAT and the increased purchasing power that
increased size brings with it.

The Purpose of the System of Internal Control
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all
risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives. It can, therefore, only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an on-going process
designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of Trust policies, aims and objectives, to
evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage
them efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal control has been in place in Folio
Education Trust for the period 1 September 2020 to 31 August 2021 and up to the date of approval of the
annual report and financial statements.

Capacity to Handle Risk
The Board of Trustees has reviewed the key risks to which the Trust is exposed together with the
operating, financial and compliance controls that have been implemented to mitigate those risks. The board
of Trustees is of the view that there is a formal on-going process for identifying, evaluating and managing
the Trust's significant risks that has been in place for the period 1 September 2020 to 31 August 2021 and
up to the date of approval of the annual report and financial statements. The Trust’s Risk Register is
regularly reviewed by the Executive and at each of the Trust Financial Management, Audit and Risk
Committee. Assurances are then given to the board of Trustees. Each school within the Trust also creates
and regularly reviews its own local Risk Register. Should any risk on the local register be significant then
the Executive will add it to the Trust Risk Register and work with the school Senior Leadership Team and
the LGB to mitigate risks where possible.
At the time of this report being signed the significant risk include things such as;
¾
¾
¾
¾
¾

Responding to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Funding areas such as SEND.
Ensuring that commercial ventures such as Extended Schools and Lettings remain effective and
financially efficient.
Utility costs following an increase in the price of Gas and Electricity.
Compliance with regards to recent updates in Keeping Children Safe In Education (KCSIE)
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The Risk and Control Framework
The Trust’s system of internal financial control is based on a framework of regular management information
and administrative procedures including the segregation of duties and a system of delegation and
accountability. In particular, it includes:
¾

comprehensive budgeting and monitoring systems with an annual budget and periodic financial
reports which are reviewed and agreed by the board of Trustees

¾

regular reviews by the Trust Financial Management, Audit and Risk Committee (FMARC) of reports
which indicate financial performance against the forecasts and of major purchase plans, capital works
and expenditure programmes

¾

setting targets (KPIs) to measure financial and other performance

¾

clearly defined purchasing (asset purchase or capital investment) guidelines

¾

delegation of authority and segregation of duties

¾

identification and management of risks within the Trust and school’s Risk Registers.

The Trustees have considered the need for a specific internal audit function and have decided not to
appoint an internal auditor.
The revised FRC Ethical Standard for auditors states that a firm providing external audit to an entity shall
not also provide internal assurance services to it, subject to transitional arrangements. In response to this,
the Trust carried out a competitive tender process in November 2020 and appointed a firm of accountants
to provide internal assurance services. This external company reviewed the Trusts’ core financial controls,
in particular reviewing practices around Fixed Assets and Revenue recognition.
In addition to the Trustees who form the FMARC, the Trust governance model identifies Lead Governor for
Financial Management and Risk for each school. This Lead Governors’ role includes giving support on
financial matters to the Headteacher alongside the Chief Finance Officer who leads on the presentation of
financial documents such as the Monthly Management Accounts. The Lead Governor meets with the Chief
Finance Officer who leads the process and the Headteacher to discuss in-year variance, and during the
Spring Term discusses the Trust Levy which helps pay for Trust Central Shared Services and the annual
budget needed to ensure curriculum implementation and to cover the cost of strategic development
priorities. On a regular basis, the Local Governor reports to the Local Governing Body on the in-year
financial performance of the school and the review of the school’s Risk Register. This work supports the
work of the Executive and the work of the Trust Board.
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Review of Effectiveness
As accounting officer, the Chief Executive Officer has responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the
system of internal control. During the year in question the review has been informed by:
¾

the work of the Trust Financial Management team who ensure systems and procedures meet external
audit expectations and deliver regular information on monthly management accounts, cash flow and
balance sheets to Trustees.

¾

the work of the Trust Financial Management, Audit and Risk Committee who support and challenge
the work of the Executive.

¾

the work of the Headteacher in co-constructing annual budgets and following procedures and systems
outlined in the financial controls of the Financial Scheme of Delegation.

¾

the work of the Lead Governor on the LGB responsible for supporting and challenging Financial
Management and Risk at a local level.

¾

the work of the external auditor.

¾

the financial management and governance self-assessment process

¾

the work of the CFO and COO, as well as other executive managers within the Trust who have
responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework.

The Accounting Officer has been advised of the implications of the review of the systems of internal control
(as set out above) and the Accounting Officer has established a plan to address weaknesses and ensure
continuous improvement of the system that is in place.
Approved by order of the members of the board of Trustees on 17th December 2021 and signed on its
behalf by:

Mr David Herrick

Mr Jonathan Wilden

Trustee

Accounting Officer
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As accounting officer of Folio Education Trust I have considered my responsibility to notify the Trust board
of Trustees and the Education and Skills Funding Agency of material irregularity, impropriety and noncompliance with ESFA terms and conditions of funding, under the funding agreement in place between the
Trust and the Secretary of State for Education. As part of my consideration I have had due regard to the
requirements of the Academy Trust Handbook 2020.
I confirm that I and the Trust board of Trustees are able to identify any material irregular or improper use of
funds by the Trust, or material non-compliance with the terms and conditions of funding under the Academy
Trust’s funding agreement and the Academy Trust Handbook 2020.
I confirm that no instances of material irregularity, impropriety or funding non-compliance have been
discovered to date. If any instances are identified after the date of this statement, these will be notified to
the board of Trustees and ESFA.

Mr Jonathan Wilden
Accounting Officer
17th December 2021
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The Trustees (who are also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are
responsible for preparing the Trustees’ Report and the financial statements in accordance with the Annual
Accounts Direction published by the Education and Skills Funding Agency, United Kingdom Accounting
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) and applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the Trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under
company law the Trustees must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the charitable company and of its incoming resources and
application of resources, including its income and expenditure, for that period. In preparing these financial
statements, the Trustees are required to:
¾

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently

¾

observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP and the Academies Accounts Direction 2020
to 2021

¾

make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent

¾

state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements

¾

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that
the charitable company will continue in business

The Trustees are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the charitable company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the charitable company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply
with the Companies Act 2006.They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charitable
company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.
The Trustees are responsible for ensuring that in its conduct and operation the charitable company applies
financial and other controls, which conform to the requirements both of propriety and of good financial
management. They are also responsible for ensuring grants received from ESFA/DfE have been applied
for the purposes intended.
The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the charitable company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation
and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
Approved by order of the members of the board of Trustees on 17th December 2021 and signed on its
y:
behalf by:

Mr David Herrick
Trustee
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Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Folio Education Trust (the ‘charitable parent company’) and its
subsidiary (the ‘group’) for the year ended 31 August 2021 which comprise the group statement of financial
activities, the group and charitable parent company balance sheets, the group statement of cash flows, the
principal accounting policies and the notes to the financial statements. The financial reporting framework that has
been applied in their preparation is applicable law, United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial
Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ (United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of
Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (the Charities SORP 2019) and the
Academies Accounts Direction 2020 to 2021.
In our opinion, the financial statements:
¾
¾
¾
¾

give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the charitable parent company’s affairs as at
31 August 2021, and of the group’s income and expenditure for the period then ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice;
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006; and
have been prepared in accordance with the Charities SORP 2019 and Academies Accounts Direction
2020 to 2021.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the group in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Trustees’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group or charitable parent company’s
ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements
are authorised for issue.
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Trustees with respect to going concern are described in the
relevant sections of this report.
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Other information
The Trustees are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the
financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in
our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
¾

¾

the information given in the Trustees’ report, which is also the directors’ report for the purposes of
company law and includes the strategic report, for the financial year for which the financial statements
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
the Trustees’ report, which is also the directors’ report for the purposes of company law, and includes
the strategic report, has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the charitable parent company and its
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Trustees’
report; including the strategic report.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires
us to report to you if, in our opinion:
¾
¾
¾
¾

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the charitable parent company, or returns adequate
for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
the charitable parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records
and returns; or
certain disclosures of Trustees’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.
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Responsibilities of Trustees
As explained more fully in the Trustees’ responsibilities statement, the Trustees (who are also the directors of the
charitable company for the purposes of company law) are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Trustees
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the group’s and the charitable
parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless Trustees either intend to liquidate the group or
the charitable parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures
in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities,
including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is
detailed below.
Our approach to identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including
fraud and non-compliance with laws and regulations, was as follows:
¾

¾
¾
¾

¾

the engagement partner ensured that the engagement team collectively had the appropriate
competence, capabilities and skills to identify or recognise non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations;
we identified the laws and regulations applicable to the group through discussions with management,
and from our knowledge of the Academy Trust sector;
the identified laws and regulations were communicated within the audit team regularly and the team
remained alert to instances of non-compliance throughout the audit;
we considered the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the group and determined that
the most significant are the Companies Act 2006, the Charities SORP 2019, the Academies Accounts
Direction 2020 to 2021, the Academy Trust Handbook 2020, and the Academy Trust’s funding agreement
with the ESFA as well as legislation pertaining to safeguarding in the UK;
we understood how the group is complying with those legal and regulatory frameworks by making
inquiries to management and those responsible for legal, compliance and governance procedures. We
corroborated our inquiries through our review of the minutes of Trustees’ meetings and the subsidiary
company directors’ meetings and papers provided to the Trustees and directors.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)
¾

we planned and carried out a separate limited assurance engagement in respect of regularity, propriety
and compliance in accordance with the Framework and Guide for External Auditors and Reporting
Accountants of Academy Trusts issued by the ESFA, as set out in our separate independent reporting
accountant’s assurance report on regularity.

We assessed the susceptibility of the group’s financial statements to material misstatement, including obtaining
an understanding of how fraud might occur, by:
¾
¾

making enquiries of management and those charged with governance as to where they considered there
was susceptibility to fraud, their knowledge of actual, suspected and alleged fraud; and
considering the internal controls in place to mitigate risks of fraud and non-compliance with laws and
regulations.

To address the risk of fraud through management bias and override of controls, we:
¾
¾
¾
¾
¾

performed analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships;
tested journal entries to identify unusual transactions;
tested the authorisation of expenditure as part of our substantive testing thereon;
assessed whether judgements and assumptions made in determining the accounting estimates set out
in the accounting policies were indicative of potential bias; and
used data analytics to identify any significant or unusual transactions and identify the rationale for them.

In response to the risk of irregularities and non-compliance with laws and regulations, we designed procedures
which included, but were not limited to:
¾
¾
¾
¾
¾

agreeing financial statement disclosures to underlying supporting documentation;
reviewing the minutes of Trustees’ meetings and subsidiary company directors’ meetings;
enquiring of management and those charged with governance as to actual and potential litigation and
claims;
reviewing any available correspondence with Ofsted, ESFA and HMRC; and
the work undertaken in relation to the limited assurance engagement in respect of regularity, propriety
and compliance in accordance with the Framework and Guide for External Auditors and Reporting
Accountants of Academy Trusts issued by the ESFA, as set out in our separate independent reporting
accountant’s assurance report on regularity.

There are inherent limitations in our audit procedures described above. The more removed that laws and
regulations are from financial transactions, the less likely it is that we would become aware of non-compliance.
International Standards on Auditing also limit the audit procedures required to identify non-compliance with laws
and regulations to enquiry of the Trustees and other management and the inspection of regulatory and legal
correspondence, if any.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial
Reporting Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s
report.
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Use of our report
This report is made solely to the charitable company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part
16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the charitable
company's members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
charitable company and the charitable company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the
opinions we have formed.

Catherine Biscoe (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of Buzzacott LLP, Statutory Auditor
130 Wood Street
London
EC2V 6DL

Date: 17 December 2021
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Independent Reporting Accountant’s Assurance Report on
Regularity to Folio Education Trust and the Education
Funding Agency
In accordance with the terms of our engagement letter dated 22 October 2021 and further to the requirements
of the Education Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) as included in the Academies Accounts Direction 2020 to
2021, we have carried out an engagement to obtain limited assurance about whether the expenditure
disbursed and income received by the Trust during the period from 1 September 2020 to 31 August 2021
have been applied to the purposes identified by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the
authorities which govern them.
This report is made solely to the Trust and the ESFA in accordance with the terms of our engagement letter.
Our work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Trust and the ESFA those matters we are
required to state in a report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept
or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Trust and the ESFA, for our work, for this report, or for the
conclusion we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of Folio Education Trust’s accounting officer and the reporting auditor
The accounting officer is responsible, under the requirements of the Trust’s funding agreement with the
Secretary of State for Education dated December 2014 and the Academy Trust Handbook, extant from 1
September 2020 for ensuring that expenditure disbursed and income received is applied for the purposes
intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.
Our responsibilities for this engagement are established in the United Kingdom by our profession’s ethical
guidance and are to obtain limited assurance and report in accordance with our engagement letter and the
requirements of the Academies Accounts Direction 2020 to 2021. We report to you whether anything has
come to our attention in carrying out our work which suggests that in all material respects, expenditure
disbursed and income received during the period from 1 September 2020 to 31 August 2021 have not been
applied to purposes intended by Parliament or that the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities
which govern them.
Approach
We conducted our engagement in accordance with the Framework and Guide for External Auditors and
Reporting Accountant of Academy Trusts issued by ESFA. We performed a limited assurance engagement
as defined in our engagement letter.
The objective of a limited assurance engagement is to perform such procedures as to obtain information and
explanations in order to provide us with sufficient appropriate evidence to express a negative conclusion on
regularity.
A limited assurance engagement is more limited in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement and
consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters
that might be identified in a reasonable assurance engagement. Accordingly, we do not express a positive
opinion.
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Our engagement includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the regularity and propriety
of the Trust’s income and expenditure.
The work undertaken to draw to our conclusion includes:
¾

An assessment of the risk of material irregularity and impropriety across all of the Trust’s activities;

¾

Further testing and review of the areas identified through the risk assessment including enquiry,
identification of control processes and examination of supporting evidence across all areas identified as
well as additional verification work where considered necessary; and

¾

Consideration of evidence obtained through the work detailed above and the work completed as part of
our financial statements audit in order to support the regularity conclusion.

Conclusion
In the course of our work, nothing has come to our attention which suggests that in all material respects the
expenditure disbursed and income received during the period from 1 September 2020 to 31 August 2021
has not been applied to purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions do not conform to
the authorities which govern them.

Reporting Accountants
Buzzacott LLP
Chartered Accountants
130 Wood Street
London
EC2V 6DL

Date: 17 December 2021
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Folio Education Trust
Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities
for the year ended 31 August 2021
(including Income and Expenditure Account)

Unrestricted
Funds

2021 Total 2020

£000
152

£000
45

£000
72,313

£000
72,510

£000
478

699
224
-

14,821
-

-

15,520
224
-

13,098
189
1

1,075

14,866

72,313

88,254

13,766

7

-

-

7

27

642
196

15,939
-

1,133
4

17,714
200

14,359
21

Total Expenditure

845

15,939

1,137

17,921

14,407

Net income / (expenditure) before
transfers

230

(1,073)

71,176

70,333

(641)

(478)

5

473

-

-

(248)

(1,068)

71,649

70,333

(641)

(248)

(1,106)
(2,174)

71,649

(1,106)
69,227

(975)
(1,616)

Reconciliation of funds
Total funds brought forward

500

(5,563)

27,843

22,780

24,395

Total funds carried forward

252

(7,737)

99,492

92,007

22,779

Income and endowments from:
Donations and capital grants
Charitable activities:
Funding for the Trust's
educational operations
Other trading activities
Investments

Note
2

Restricted Restricted
General Fixed Asset
Funds
Funds

3
4
5

Total
Expenditure on:
Raising funds
Charitable activities:
Academy trust educational operations
Other

Transfers between funds

6
6,7

18

Net Income/(Expenditure)
Other recognised (losses):
Actuarial (losses) on defined
benefit pension schemes
Net movement in funds

18,27
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Consolidated Group and
Trust Balance Sheets
as at 31 August 2021

Company Number 07627302

Consolidated

Consolidated

Trust

2021

2021

2020

2020

£000

£000

£000

£000

12
13

11
99,481
99,492

11
99,359
99,370

8
27,827
27,835

8
27,827
27,835

14
15
16

10
998
1,237
2,245

10
100
1,188
1,174
2,472

10
1,009
1,673
2,692

10
1,021
1,653
2,684

(1,958)

(1,926)

(2,083)

(2,075)

287

546

609

609

Total assets less current liabilities

99,779

99,916

28,444

28,444

Net assets excluding pension liability

99,779

99,916

28,444

28,444

(7,772)

(7,772)

(5,665)

(5,665)

92,007

92,144

22,779

22,779

18
18
18

99,492
35
(7,772)
91,755

99,370
35
(7,772)
91,633

27,842
102
(5,665)
22,279

27,842
102
(5,665)
22,279

18

252

511

500

500

92,007

92,144

22,779

22,779

Notes
Fixed assets
Intangible assets
Tangible assets

Current assets
Stock
Folio Services Limited
Debtors
Cash at bank and in hand

Trust

Liabilities
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

17

Net current assets

Defined benefit pension scheme liability

27

Total assets
Funds of the trust:
Restricted funds
. Fixed asset fund
. Restricted income fund
. Pension reserve
Total restricted funds
Unrestricted income funds
Total funds

The financial statements on pages 47-49 were approved by the trustees, and authorised for issue on 17th December 2021 and
are signed
g
on their behalf by:
y

Mr D Herrick
Trustee
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Folio Education Trust
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 August 2021
Notes

2021
£000

2020
£000

Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash used in operating activities

22

45

268

Cash flows from investing activities

23

(481)

(60)

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting period

(436)

208

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 September 2020

1,673

1,465

1,237

1,673

Cash and cash equivalents at the 31 August 2021

24
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Folio Education Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended
31 August 2021
1 Statement of Accounting Policies
A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted (which have been applied consistently, except where
noted), judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty, is set out below.

Basis of Preparation
The financial statements of the Trust, which is a public benefit entity under FRS 102, have been prepared
under the historical cost convention in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard Applicable in the
UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS102), the Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of
Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (Charities SORP (FRS102)), the
Academies Accounts Direction 2020 to 2021 issued by ESFA, the Charities Act 2011 and the Companies
Act 2006.
Folio Trust meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102.
Basis of Consolidation
The Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities and Group Balance Sheet consolidate the financial
statements of the Trust and its subsidiary company made up at the balance sheet date.
No separate Statement of Financial Activities has been presented for Folio Education Trust alone, as
permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and Charities SORP 2019 (2nd edition).
Going Concern
The Trustees assess whether the use of going concern is appropriate i.e. whether there are any material
uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the company to
continue as a going concern. The Trustees make this assessment in respect of a period of at least one year
from the date of authorisation for issue of the financial statements and have concluded that the Trust has
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and there are no material
uncertainties about the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern, thus they continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements. The Trustees have given consideration to
the effects of the COVID - 19 pandemic and specific KPIs when making their going concern assessment and
these have been set out in the Trustees report.
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Folio Education Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended
31 August 2021
Income
All income is recognised when the Trust has entitlement to the funds, the receipt is probable and the amount
can be measured reliably.
●

Grants
Grants are included in the Statement of Financial Activities on a receivable basis. The balance
of income received for specific purposes but not expended during the period is shown in the
relevant funds on the balance sheet. Where income is received in advance of meeting any
performance-related conditions there is not unconditional entitlement to the income and its
recognition is deferred and included in creditors as deferred income until the performancerelated conditions are met. Where entitlement occurs before income is received, the income is
accrued.
General Annual Grant is recognised in full in the Statement of Financial Activities in the year for
which it is receivable and any abatement in respect of the period is deducted from income and
recognised as a liability.
Capital grants are recognised when there is entitlement and are not deferred over the life of the
asset on which they are expended.

●

Sponsorship Income
Sponsorship income provided to the Trust which amounts to a donation is recognised in the
Statement of Financial Activities in the period in which it is receivable (where there are no
performance-related conditions), where the receipt is probable and it can be measured reliably.

●

Donations
Donations are recognised on a receivable basis (where there are no performance-related
conditions) where the receipt is probable and the amount can be reliably measured.

●

Other Income
Other income, including the hire of facilities, is recognised in the period it is receivable and to
the extent the trust has provided the goods or services.

●

Donated Assets
Where Assets are donated to the Trust they are shown within income at an estimate of their
fair value.
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Folio Education Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended
31 August 2021
Expenditure
Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to transfer economic benefit to a
third party, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required in settlement and the amount of
the obligation can be measured reliably. Expenditure is classified by activity. The costs of each activity are
made up of the total of direct costs and shared costs, including support costs involved in undertaking each
activity. Direct costs attributable to a single activity are allocated directly to that activity. Shared costs which
contribute to more than one activity and support costs which are not attributable to a single activity are
apportioned between those activities on a basis consistent with the use of resources. Central staff costs are
allocated on the basis of time spent, and depreciation charges allocated on the portion of the asset’s use.
● Expenditure on Raising Funds
This includes all expenditure incurred by the Trust to raise funds for its charitable purposes and
includes costs of all fundraising activities events and non-charitable trading.
● Charitable Activities
These are costs incurred on the Trust’s educational operations, including support costs and
costs relating to the governance of the Trust apportioned to charitable activities.

All expenditure is stated exclusive of VAT.
Intangible Fixed Assets
Intangible assets costing £5,000 or more are capitalised and recognised when future economic benefits are
probable and the cost or value of the asset can be measured reliably. Intangible assets are initially
recognised at cost and are subsequently measured at cost net of amortisation and any provision for
impairment.
Amortisation is provided on intangible fixed assets at rates calculated to write off the cost of each asset on a
straight-line basis over its expected useful life, as follows:
● Purchased computer software

20% per annum
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Folio Education Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended
31 August 2021
Tangible Fixed Assets
Assets costing £5,000 or more are capitalised as tangible fixed assets and are carried at cost, net of
depreciation and any provision for impairment.
Where tangible fixed assets have been acquired with the aid of specific grants, either from the government
or from the private sector, they are included in the Balance Sheet at cost and depreciated over their
expected useful economic life. Where there are specific conditions attached to the funding requiring the
continued use of the asset, the related grants are credited to a restricted fixed asset fund in the Statement of
Financial Activities and carried forward in the Balance Sheet. Depreciation on the relevant assets is charged
directly to the restricted fixed asset fund in the Statement of Financial Activities. Where tangible fixed assets
have been acquired with unrestricted funds, depreciation on such assets is charged to the fixed asset fund.

Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets other than freehold land, at rates calculated to write off
the cost of each asset on a straight-line basis over its expected useful life, as follows:
● Freehold buildings
● Leasehold Buildings (St Peters Primary
School)
● Leasehold Buildings (Coombe Wood

2% per annum
Over the term of the lease

School)

2% per annum

● Fixtures, fittings and equipment

20% per annum

● ICT hardware

33% per annum

● Motor Vehicles

25% per annum

Assets in the course of construction are included at cost. Depreciation on these assets is not charged until
they are brought into use. Where an asset comprises of two or more components which have substantially
different lives, each component is depreciated separately over its useful economic life.
A review for impairment of a fixed asset is carried out if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of any fixed asset may not be recoverable. Shortfalls between the carrying value of fixed
assets and their recoverable amounts are recognised as impairments. Impairment losses are recognised in
the Statement of Financial Activities.
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Folio Education Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended
31 August 2021
Liabilities
Liabilities are recognised when there is an obligation at the balance sheet date as a result of a past event, it
is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required in settlement, and the amount of the
settlement can be estimated reliably. Liabilities are recognised at the amount that the Trust anticipates it will
pay to settle the debt or the amount it has received as advanced payments for the goods of services it must
provide.
Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Trust has an obligation at the reporting date as a result of a past event
which it is probable will result in the transfer of economic benefits and the obligation can be estimated
reliably.
Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation. Where the
effect of the time value of money is material, the provision is based on the present value of those amounts,
discounted at the pre-tax discount rate that reflects the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the
discount is recognised within interest payable and similar charges.
Leased Assets
Rentals under operating leases are charged on a straight line basis over the lease term.
Stock
Unsold catering stocks are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value.
Taxation
The Trust is considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 of the Finance Act 2010 and
therefore it meets the definition of a charitable company for UK corporation tax purposes.
Accordingly, the Trust is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains received
within categories covered by part 11, chapter 3 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 or Section 256 of the
Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent that such income or gains are applied exclusively to
charitable purposes.
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Folio Education Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended
31 August 2021
Pensions Benefits
Retirement benefits to employees of the Trust are provided by the Teachers’ Pension Scheme (‘TPS’) and
the Local Government Pension Scheme (‘LGPS’). These are defined benefit schemes and the assets are
held separately from those of the trust.
The TPS is an unfunded scheme and contributions are calculated so as to spread the cost of pensions over
employees’ working lives with the trust in such a way that the pension cost is a substantially level
percentage of current and future pensionable payroll. The contributions are determined by the Government
Actuary on the basis of quadrennial valuations using a prospective unit credit method. As stated in note 27,
the TPS is a multi-employer scheme and there is insufficient information available to use defined benefit
accounting. The TPS is therefore treated as a defined contribution scheme for accounting purposes and the
contributions recognised in the period to which they relate.
The LGPS is a funded scheme and the assets are held separately from those of the trust in separate trustee
administered funds. Pension scheme assets are measured at fair value and liabilities are measured on an
actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method and discounted at a rate equivalent to the current rate
of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the liabilities. The actuarial
valuations are obtained at least triennially and are updated at each balance sheet date. The amounts
charged to operating surplus are the current service costs and the costs of scheme introductions, benefit
changes, settlements and curtailments. They are included as part of staff costs as incurred. Net interest on
the net defined benefit liability/asset is also recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities and comprises
the interest cost on the defined benefit obligation and interest income on the schemes' assets, calculated by
multiplying the fair value of the schemes' assets at the beginning of the period by the rate used to discount
the benefit obligations. The difference between the interest income on the schemes' assets and the actual
return on the schemes' assets is recognised in other recognised gains and losses.
Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in other recognised gains and losses.
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Folio Education Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended
31 August 2021
Fund Accounting
Unrestricted income funds represent those resources which may be used towards meeting any of the
charitable objects of the Trust at the discretion of the Trustees.
Restricted fixed asset funds are resources which are to be applied to specific capital purposes imposed by
funders where the asset acquired or created is held for a specific purpose.
Restricted general funds comprise all other restricted funds received with restrictions imposed by the
funder/donor and include grants from the Education and Skills Funding Agency and Department for
Education.
Critical accounting estimates and areas of judgement
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Trust makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates and
assumptions will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.
The present value of the Local Government Pension Scheme defined benefit liability depends on a number
of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a variety of assumptions. The assumptions used in
determining the net cost (income) for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions,
which are disclosed in note 27, will impact the carrying amount of the pensions liability. Furthermore a roll
forward approach which projects results from the latest full actuarial valuation performed at 31 March 2019
has been used by the actuary in valuing the pensions liability at 31 August 2021. Any differences between
the figures derived from the roll forward approach and a full actuarial valuation would impact on the carrying
amount of the pension liability.
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Folio Education Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 August 2021
(continued)

2

Donations and capital grants

Capital Grants
Donated Assets
Donations

Capital Grants
Donations

Unrestricted
Funds

Restricted
General
Funds

Restricted
Fixed
Asset
Funds

Total
2021

£000
152
152

£000
45
45

£000
1,329
70,984
72,313

£000
1,329
70,984
197
72,510

Unrestricted
Funds

Restricted
General Funds

£000
171
171

£000
17
17

Restricted
Fixed
Asset
Funds
£000
290
290

Total
2020
£000
290
188
478
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Folio Education Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 August 2021
(continued)
3

Funding for the Trust's Educational Operations

DfE / ESFA grants
. General Annual Grant (GAG)
. UIFSM
. Pupil Premium
. Other DfE/ESFA grants
Other Government grants
Other Government Grants
Other income from the Trust’s educational
operations

Unrestricted
Funds

Restricted
Funds

Total
2021

£000

£000

£000

-

12,044
59
446
1,382
13,931

12,044
59
446
1,382
13,931

-

347

347

699

148

847

-

165

165

106

106

69

69

55

55

14,821

15,520

Covid 19 AdditionalFunding (Dfe/ESFA)
Covid Catch Up Premium
Other

Covid 19 AdditionalFunding (Non Dfe/ESFA)
Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme grant

-

Other

699

The trust received £165k of funding for catch-up premium and costs incurred in respect of this funding totalled
£158k with the remaining £11k to be spent in 2021/22.
The trust furloughed some of its catering and extended services staff under the government's CJRS. The funding received
of £69k (2020:£63k) relates to staff costs in respect of 32 (2020: 32) staff which are included in note 8 below as
appropriate.
Following the reclassification in the Academies Accounts Direction 2020-21 of some grants received from the
Dfe and ESFA, the trust's funding for Universal Infant Free School Meals and Pupil Premium is no longer reported
under the Other Dfe Group grants heading, but as separate lines under the Other Dfe/ESFA grants heading
The prior year numbers have been reclassified.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 August 2021
(continued)
3

Funding for the Trust's Educational Operations ( contd)

DfE / ESFA grants
. General Annual Grant (GAG)
. UIFSM
. Pupil Premium
. Other DfE/ESFA grants

Restricted
Funds
£000

£000

-

10,336
57
383
1,035
11,811

10,336
57
383
1,035
11,811

-

Other Government grants
Other income from the Trust’s educational
operations

Total
2020

Unrestricted
Funds
£000

274

274

632

318

950

-

63

63

632

12,466

13,098

Exceptional Government funding
Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme grant
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 August 2021
(continued)

4

Other Trading activities

Unrestricted
Funds
Hire of facilities
Contract Catering
Education Welfare Services
Staff Consultancy
Other

£000
75
88
31
20
10
224

Unrestricted
Funds

Hire of facilities
Contract Catering
Education Welfare Services
Staff Consultancy
Other

£000
37

72
20
42
14
185

5

Restricted
General
Funds
£000
Restricted
General
Funds
£000
4
4

Total
2021
£000
75
88
31
20
10
224

Total
2020
£000
37
72
20
42
18
189

Investment income
Unrestricted
Funds
Bank Interest

£000
-

Unrestricted
Funds

Bank Interest

£000
1
1

Restricted
General
Funds
£000
Restricted
General
Funds
£000
-

Total
2021
£000
-

Total
2020
£000
1
1
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Folio Education Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended
31 August 2021 (continued)
6 Expenditure

Expenditure on raising funds
Trust's educational operations:
. Direct costs
. Allocated support costs
Other Activities
. Direct costs
. Allocated support costs

Expenditure on raising funds
Trust's educational operations:
. Direct costs
. Allocated support costs

Staff Costs
(Note 8)
£000
-

Non Pay Expenditure
Premises
£000
-

Other
£000
7

Total
2021
£000
7

10,933
2,498

2,355

1,432
496

12,365
5,349

121
-

13
-

66
-

200
-

13,552

2,368

Staff Costs
(Note 8)
£000
-

2,001 17,921

Non Pay Expenditure
Premises
£000
-

Other
£000
27

Total
2020
£000
27

9,446
2,027

1,219

1,188
479

10,634
3,725

11,473

1,219

1,694 14,386

Net income/(expenditure) for the
year includes:

Operating lease rentals
Depreciation
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets (included within
Charitable Activities – Academy trust educational operations)
Fees payable to auditor for:
- statutory audit
- other services

2021
£000
76
1,133

2020
£000
51
527

4

4

24
13

20
7

61
"$ !#  

 " 

Folio Education Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended
31 August 2021 (continued)
7 Charitable Activities

Direct costs – educational operations
Support costs – educational operations

Analysis of Direct Costs

Staff Costs
Educational Supplies and Services
Examination Fees

Unrestricted
Funds

Restricted Restricted Fixed
Funds
Asset Funds

Total

Total

2021

2020

£000

£000

12,365

10,634

5,349

3,725

17,714

14,359

Total

Total

2021

2020

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

418

10,515

-

10,933

9,447

21

786

-

807

511
138

-

81

-

81

204

217

-

421

300

School Trips

-

33

-

33

137

Other Direct Costs

-

90

-

90

Total direct costs

643

11,722

-

12,365

101
10,634

2021

2020

Catering

Analysis of support costs
£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Support staff costs
Depreciation and amortisation
Technology costs
Premises costs

-

2,497
139
1,222

1,133
-

2,497
1,133
139
1,222

2,027
531
127
688

Legal Fees
Other support costs

-

10

-

10

-

348

-

348

11
341

Total support costs

-

4,216

1,133

5,349

3,725

Total

643

15,938

1,133

17,714

14,359

2020 Total

701

13,127

531

14,359
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Folio Education Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended
31 August 2021 (continued)
8 Staff
a. Staff costs
Staff costs during the period were:

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Operating costs of defined benefit pension schemes
Agency staff costs
Severance Payments

Total
2021
£000
9,596
968
2,968
13,532
20
-

Total
2020
£000
8,920
826
1,696
11,442
31
-

13,552

11,473

2021

2020

No.

No.

151
184

139
177

3

3

338

319

b. Non statutory/non contractual staff severance payments
No non-statutory/non-contractual severance payments are included (2020: £nil).

c. Staff numbers
The average number of persons employed by the trust during the period was as follows:

Teachers
Administration and support
Management

d Higher paid staff
The number of employees whose employee benefits (excluding employer pension costs) exceeded £60,000 was:
2021
No.
7
3
2
1
0
1

£60,001 - £70,000
£70,001 - £80,000
£80,001 - £90,000
£90,001 - £100,000
£120,001 - £130,000
£130,001 - £140,000

2020
No.
5
3
3
0
1
0

Aggregate pension scheme costs for higher paid employees were £249,000 (2020:£180,000)
e Key management personnel
The key management personnel of the Trust comprise the Trustees and the senior management team as listed on
page 1. The total amount of employee benefits (including employer pension contributions) received by key
management personnel for their services to the Trust was £912,000 (2020: £868,000).
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Folio Education Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended
31 August 2021 (continued)
9 Central Services
The trust has provided the following central services to its schools during the year:
*

Human resources

*

Financial Services

*

Legal Services

*

Catering Services

*

Facility & Premises Support Services

*

Educational Support Services

*

Others as arising

The Trust charges for these services on the following basis:
Any costs that can be attributed directly to individual academies are charged to these schools.
Any remaining balance is allocated on the basis of the individual schools GAG & Other Government Grant Revenue
as a percentage of the Total Trust GAG & Other Government Grant Revenue.
The overall aim of the Trust is to achieve a target of 4-8% for each Academy within the Trust.
2021
£000
552
128
146
574
17
1,417

The actual amounts charged during the year were:
Wallington County Grammar School
Park Hill Junior School
St Peters Primary School
Coombe Wood School
Croydon School Sports Partnership

2020
£000
461
115
128
503
15
1,222
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Folio Education Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended
31 August 2021 (continued)
10 Related Party Transactions - Trustees' Remuneration and Expenses
One or more Trustees has been paid remuneration or has received other benefits from an employment with the Trust.
The Executive Headteacher only receives remuneration in respect of services he provides undertaking the role of
Executive Headteacher under his contract of employment.

The value of Executive Headteacher's remuneration and other benefits was as follows:
J Wilden (Executive Headteacher and trustee)
. Remuneration £130,000-£135,000 (2020: £125,000 - £130,000)
. Employer’s pension contributions paid £30,000-£35,000 (2020: £30,000 - £35,000)

11 Trustees' and Officers' Insurance
In accordance with normal commercial practice the Trust has purchased insurance to protect Trustees and officers
from claims arising from negligent acts, errors or omissions occurring whilst on Trust business. The insurance
provides cover up to £5,000,000 on any one claim.
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Folio Education Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended
31 August 2021 (continued)
12 Intangible Fixed Assets

Cost

Computer
Software

Total

£000

£000

At 1 September 2020
Additions

20
8

20
8

At 31 August 2021

28

28

Charged in year

12
5

12
5

At 31 August 2020

17

17

8
11

8
11

Amortisation
At 1 September 2020

Carrying amount
At 31 August 2020
At 31 August 2021
13 Tangible Fixed Assets

Assets
under
Motor Vehicles
Construction
£000
£000

Freehold Land
and Buildings

Leasehold
Land and
Buildings

Furniture and
Equipment

Computer
equipment

£000

£000

£000

£000

25,546

2,698

1,075

497

178

29

30,023

6

71,413

611

731

-

26

72,787

Total
£000

Cost/Valuation
At 1 September 2020
Additions
Transfers
At 31 August 2021

-

178

-

-

(178)

-

-

25,552

74,289

1,686

1,228

-

55

102,810

Charged in year

1,220
260

67
457

618
110

262
304

-

29
2

At 31 August 2021

1,480

524

728

566

-

31

2,196
1,133
3,329

24,326
24,072

2,631
73,765

457
958

235
662

178
-

24

Depreciation
At 1 September 2020

Net book values
At 31 August 2020
At 31 August 2021

27,827
99,481
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Folio Education Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended
31 August 2021 (continued)
14 Stock
2021
£000
Catering

10

2020
£000
10

10

10

15 Folio Services Limited
The Trust has agreed to advance a loan of £250,000 to Folio Services Limited, repayable over 36
months or on demand by the Trust, at an interest rate of 2.9% above the base rate of the Bank of
England, to be drawn down as required by Folio Services Limited.
Movements in the year may be summarised as follows:

Balance as at 1 September 2020

£000
-

Drawn down in the year

100

Repayments in the year

-

Balance as at 31 August 2021

100

As at 31 August 2021, there is also an intercompany balance of £249k owed by Folio Services Ltd to the
Trust in relation to operational costs which have been recharged. This amount is shown in note 16 below as
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings.
16 Debtors

Trade debtors
VAT recoverable
Amounts due from subsidiary
undertakings
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income

17 Creditors: Amounts Falling
due within one year
Trade creditors
Other taxation and social security
Other creditors
Accruals and deferred income

Deferred income (Included above)
Deferred income at 1 September 2020
Released from previous years
Resources deferred in the year
Deferred Income at 31 August 2021

Group

Trust

2021
£000
140
90

2020
£000
154
102

2021
£000
90
93

2020
£000
156
101

5
763

24
729

249
5
751

11
24
729

998

1,009

1,188

1,021

2021
£000
241
465
838
414

2020
£000
284
402
886
511

2021
£000
240
465
840
381

2020
£000
284
402
886
503

1,958

2,083

1,926

2,075

2021
£000
250
(250)

2021
£000
175
(175)

172

2020
£000
175
(175)
250

168

2020
£000
126
(126)
175

172

250

168

175

Group

Trust

Deferred income relates to projects and trips that will take place in the following year as well as rental income
received in advance.
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FOLIO EDUCATION TRUST
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended
31 August 2021 (continued)
18 Funds
Balance at 1
September
2020
£000

Income
£000

49
24
29
(5,665)
(5,563)

12,044
59
446
165
52
69
55
1,976
14,866

Restricted fixed asset funds
DfE/EFA capital grants
Other Capital Funds
Restricted fixed asset funds

25,925
1,862
56
27,843

Total restricted funds

Restricted general funds
General Annual Grant (GAG)
UIFSM
Pupil Premium
Catch Up Premium
Other Dfe/ESFA Covid 19 Funding
Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme Grant
Other Covid 19 funding
Other Restricted Funds (See below)
Pension reserve

Total unrestricted funds
Total funds

Gains,
losses and
transfers
Expenditure
£000
£000

Balance at
31 August
2021
£000

(12,149)
(59)
(397)
(146)
(52)
(69)
(55)
(2,011)
(1,001)
(15,939)

90
(46)
(8)
(31)
(1,106)
(1,101)

(300)
(399)
(438)
(1,137)

473

1,150
71,163
72,313

473

22,280

87,179

(17,076)

(628)

91,755

500

1,075

(845)

(478)

252

22,780

88,254

(17,921)

(1,106)

92,007

-

The specific purposes for which the restricted funds are to be applied are as follows:
Central Trust funds running costs
Funds held in trust for scholarships
Funds to be used to purchase educational equipment
Funds used to run the Croydon School Sports Partnership
Other Grants to be used for educational resources

34
27
11
(37)
(7,772)
(7,737)
26,098
2,613
70,781
99,492

£000
(184)
5
42
83
17
(37)

Net transfers from unrestricted to restricted funds relate to amounts used from unrestricted funds to cover the
operational costs of the Trust which are not covered by funding income.

Analysis of academies by fund balance
Fund balances at 31 August 2021 were allocated as follows:

Wallington County Grammar School
Park Hill Junior School
St Peters Primary School
Croydon Schools Sports Partnership
Coombe Wood School
Folio Services Ltd
Central services
Total before fixed assets and pension reserve
Restricted fixed asset fund
Pension reserve
Total

Total
2021
£000
249
139
94
83
(186)
(3)
(89)
287

Total
2020
£000
189
122
109
114
6
62
602

99,492
(7,772)
92,007

27,842
(5,665)
22,779

Coombe Wood School, Folio Services Ltd and Central Services all show negative balances as at 31 August 2021.
The 3 year forward plan for all entities currently carrying negative reserve balances will see them reverse this position within
the period of this plan, as the commercial income from Folio Services Ltd increases.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended
31 August 2021 (continued)
18 Funds (continued)
Comparative information in respect of the preceeding period is as follows:
Balance at 1
September
2019

Income
£000

£000
Restricted general funds
General Annual Grant (GAG)
Funds transferred on conversion
Other Restricted Funds (See below)
Pension reserve

Gains,
losses and
transfers
Expenditure
£000
£000

Balance at
31 August
2020
£000

6
34
(3,944)

10,336

(10,451)

158

2,151
-

(1,930)
(746)

(202)
(975)

49
53
(5,665)

(3,904)

12,487

(13,127)

(1,019)

(5,563)

Restricted fixed asset funds

28,044

290

(531)

40

27,842

Total restricted funds

24,140

12,777

(13,658)

(979)

22,279

256

989

(749)

4

500

24,396

13,766

(14,407)

(975)

22,779

Private sector capital sponsorship

Total unrestricted funds
Total funds
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Folio Education Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended
31 August 2021 (continued)
19 Analysis of Net Assets between Funds
Fund balances at 31 August 2021 are represented
by:
Group
Intangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets
Current Assets
Current Liabilities
Pension scheme liability
Total net assets

Trust
Intangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets
Current assets
Current Liabilities
Pension scheme liability
Total net assets

Restricted
Unrestricted Funds General Funds

Fixed Asset
Funds

Total Funds

£000
2,210
(1,958)
-

£000
35
(7,772)

£000
11
99,481
-

£000
11
99,481
2,245
(1,958)
(7,772)

252

(7,737)

99,492

92,007

Restricted
Unrestricted Funds General Funds

Restricted
Fixed Asset
Funds

Total Funds

£000
2,437
(1,926)

£000
35
(7,772)

£000
11
99,359
-

£000
11
99,359
2,472
(1,926)
(7,772)

511

(7,737)

99,370

92,144

Comparative information in respect of the preceeding perod for the Group and the Trust is as follows:

Group
Intangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets
Current Assets
Current Liabilities
Pension scheme liability
Total net assets

Trust
Intangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets
Current assets
Current Liabilities
Pension scheme liability
Total net assets

Restricted
Unrestricted Funds General Funds

Restricted
Fixed Asset
Funds
£000
8

Total Funds

£000
2,583
(2,083)
-

£000
102
(5,665)

27,827
7
-

£000
8
27,827
2,692
(2,083)
(5,665)

500

(5,563)

27,842

22,779

Restricted
Unrestricted Funds General Funds

Restricted
Fixed Asset
Funds

Total Funds

£000
2,575
(2,075)
-

£000
102
(5,665)

£000
8
27,827
7
-

£000
8
27,827
2,684
(2,075)
(5,665)

500

(5,563)

27,842

22,779
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31 August 2021 (continued)
20 Capital Commitments
Contracted for, but not provided in the financial statements
Approved but not contracted for, and not provided for in the financial
statements

2021
£000
-

2020
£000
489

-

-

-

489

21 Commitments under operating leases
Operating Leases
At 31 August 2021 the total of the Trust’s future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases was:
2021
£000
Amounts due within one year
40
Amounts due between one and five years
48
88

2020
£000
36
26
62
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Folio Education Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended
31 August 2021 (continued)
22 Reconciliation of Net Income/(expenditure) to Net
Cash Flow from Operating Activities
Net income/(expenditure) for the reporting period (as per the statement
of financial activities)

2021
£000
70,333

2020
£000
(641)

5
1,133
(72,313)
903
98
11
(125)

4
527
(290)
(1)
668
78
2
(248)
169

45

268

2021
£000
(72,794)
72,313

2020
£000
1
(351)
290

(481)

(60)

Cash
flows
£000

At 31 August
2021
£000

Adjusted for:
Amortisation (note 12)
Depreciation charges (note 13)
Capital grants from DfE and other capital income
Interest receivable (note 5)
Defined benefit pension scheme cost less contributions payable (note 27)
Defined benefit pension scheme finance cost (note 27)
Decrease in stocks
Decrease/(increase in debtors)
(Decrease)/increase in creditors
Net cash provided by / (used in) Operating Activities

23 Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Dividends, interest and rents from investments
Purchase of tangible fixed assets
Capital grants from DfE/EFA
Net cash provided by / (used in) investing activities
24 Analysis of changes in net debt

At 31 August
2020
£000

Cash in hand and at bank

1,673

(436)

1,237

Total cash and cash equivalents

1,673

(436)

1,237
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Folio Education Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended
31 August 2021(continued)
25 Members' Liability
Each member of the charitable company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the company in the
event of it being wound up while he/she is a member, or within one year after he/she ceases to be a
member, such amount as may be required, not exceeding £10 for the debts and liabilities contracted
before he/she ceases to be a member.

26 Trading Subsidiary
The wholly owned trading subsidiary, Folio Services Ltd, is incorporated in the United Kingdom (company
no 11387304) and pays all of its surpluses to the Trust under a deed of covenant. The company provides
catering and education welfare services to schools outside of the Trust. The Trust owns the entire share
capital of 1 ordinary share of £1. A summary of the trading results is shown below:

The summary financial performance of the subsidiary alone is:

Administrative Expenses
(Loss)/Profit on ordinary activities before taxation
Gift aid donation to Folio Education Trust

2021
£000
184
(320)
(136)
-

2020
£000
92
(87)
5
(5)

(Loss) on ordinary activities after taxation

(136)

-

Fixed Assets
Current assets
Current liabilities

2021
£000
123
128
(387)

2020
£000
21
(21)

Total net liabilities

(136)

-

Turnover

The assets and liabilities of the subsidiary were:
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31 August 2021(continued)
27 Pension and Similar Obligations
The Trust’s employees belong to two principal pension schemes: the Teachers’ Pension Scheme
England and Wales (TPS) for academic and related staff; and the Local Government Pension Scheme
(LGPS) for non-teaching staff, which is managed by the London Boroughs of Sutton and Croydon. Both
are multi-employer defined benefit pension schemes.
The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS related to the period ended 31 March 2016 and of the LGPS
31 March 2016.
Contributions amounting to £166,609 were payable to the schemes at 31 August 2021 (2020:
£146,742) and are included within creditors.
Teachers’ Pension Scheme
The Teachers' Pension Scheme (TPS) is a statutory, contributory, defined benefit scheme, governed
by the Teachers’ Pension Scheme Regulations 2014. These regulations apply to teachers in schools,
colleges and other educational establishments. Membership is automatic for teachers and lecturers at
eligible institutions. Teachers and lecturers are able to opt out of the TPS.
The TPS is an unfunded scheme and members contribute on a ’pay as you go‘ basis – these
contributions, along with those made by employers, are credited to the Exchequer under arrangements
governed by the above Act. Retirement and other pension benefits are paid by public funds provided
by Parliament.
Under the definitions set out in FRS 102 (28.11), the TPS is a multi-employer pension plan. The
Academy Trust is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the plan.
Accordingly, the Academy Trust has taken advantage of the exemption in FRS 102 and has accounted
for its contributions to the scheme as if it were a defined-contribution plan. The Academy Trust has set
out above the information available on the plan and the implications for the Academy Trust in terms of
the anticipated contribution rates.
The valuation of the TPS is carried out in line with regulations made under the Public Service Pension
Act 2013. Valuations credit the teachers’ pension account with a real rate of return assuming funds are
invested in notional investments that produce that real rate of return.
The latest actuarial review of the TPS was carried out as at 31 March 2016. The valuation report was
published by the Department for Education (DfE) in April 2019. The valuation reported total scheme
liabilities (pensions currently in payment and the estimated cost of future benefits) for service to the
effective date of £218 billion, and notional assets (estimated future contributions together with the
notional investments held at the valuation date) of £196 billion, giving a notional past service deficit of
£22 billion.
As a result of the valuation, new employer contribution rates were set at 23.68% of pensionable pay
from September 2019 onwards (compared to 16.48% during 2018/19). The Department for Education
has agreed to pay a teacher pension employer contribution grant to cover the additional costs during
the 2019/20 academic year.
A full copy of the valuation report and supporting documentation can be found on the Teachers’
Pension Scheme website.
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Folio Education Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended
31 August 2021 (continued)
27 Pension and Similar Obligations (continued)
The pension costs paid to TPS in the period amounted to £2,006,000 (2020: £1,736,000).
A copy of the valuation report and supporting documentation is on the Teachers’ Pensions website.
Under the definitions set out in FRS 102, the TPS is a multi-employer pension scheme. The Trust has
accounted for its contributions to the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme. The
academy has set out above the information available on the scheme.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended
31 August 2021 (continued)
27 Pension and Similar Obligations (continued)
Net LGPS Pension Liability
London
Borough of
Sutton

London
Borough of
Croydon

£000
(3,055)
(48)
(2)
(330)
145
485
(699)
114
(3,390)

£000
(2,610)
(50)
(1,196)
480
275
(1,281)
(4,382)

Pension Liability as at 1 September 2020
Interest Payable
Administration Expenses
Service Cost
Actuarial Losses
Employer Contributions
Return on assets less interest
Change in financial assumptions
Experience gain/loss on defined benefit obligation
Past Service Costs
Pension liability as at 31 August 2021

Total
£000
(5,665)
(98)
(2)
(1,526)
625
760
(1,980)
114
(7,772)

2020
£000
(3,944)
(78)
(2)
(1,205)
261
539
131
(228)
(1,139)
(5,665)

Local Government Pension Scheme - London Borough of Sutton
The LGPS is a funded defined benefit pension scheme, with the assets held in separate trustee-administered
funds.
The total contribution made for the year ended 31 August 2021 was £185,000 (2020: £230,000), of which
employer’s contributions totalled £145,000 (2020: £186,000) and employees’ contributions totalled £40,000
(2020: £44,000)
Parliament has agreed, at the request of the Secretary of State for Education, to a guarantee that, in the event of
academy closure, outstanding Local Government Pension Scheme liabilities would be met by the Department for
Education. The guarantee came into force on 18 July 2013.
Principal Actuarial Assumptions

At 31 August
2021
3.90%
2.90%
1.65%

Rate of increase in salaries
Rate of increase for pensions in payment/inflation
Discount rate for scheme liabilities

At 31 August
2020
3.30%
2.30%
1.60%
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Folio Education Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended
31 August 2021 (continued)
27 Pension and Similar Obligations (continued)
Sensitivity Analysis

£000

£000

£000

Adjustment to discount rate
Present value of total obligation
Projected Service Cost

+0.1%
7,274
369

0.0%
7,431
381

-0.1%
7,591
393

Adjustment to long term salary increase
Present value of total obligation
Projected Service Cost

+0.1%
7,444
381

0.0%
7,431
381

-0.1%
7,418
381

Adjustment to pension increases and deferred
revaluation
Present value of total obligation
Projected Service Cost

+0.1%

0.0%

-0.1%

7,576
393

7,431
381

7,289
369

+1 Year
7,757
399

None
7,431
381

-1 Year
7,119
364

Adjustment to life expectancy assumptions
Present value of total obligation
Projected Service Cost

The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in mortality
rates. The assumed life expectations on retirement age 65 are:
At 31 August

At 31 August

2021

2020

Retiring today
Males
Females

21.6
24.3

21.8
24.4

Retiring in 20 years
Males
Females

22.9
25.7

23.2
25.9
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27 Pension and Similar Obligations (continued)
The Trust’s share of the assets in the scheme were:
Fair value at
31 August
2021
£000
Equity instruments
Debt instruments
Property
Cash
Total market value of assets
Less Liabilities
Net Pension Liability

Fair value at 31
August 2020
£000

2,622
942
398
79
4,041
(7,431)
(3,390)

1,935
926
410
94
3,365
(6,419)
(3,054)

2021
£000

2020
£000

330
48
2

320
35
2

380

357

Amounts recognised in the statement of financial activities

Service Cost
Net Interest on defined liability
Administration Costs

Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows:
2021

2020

£’000

£’000

At 1 September

6,419

4,645

Current service cost
Interest cost
Changes in financial assumptions
Changes in demographical assumptions
Employee contributions
Expected gain/loss on defined pension obligations
Benefits paid

330
103
777
(78)
40
(114)
(47)

320
86
413
(172)
44
1,139
(56)

-

-

7,430

6,419

Past service costs
At 31 August
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27 Pension and Similar Obligations (continued)

Changes in the fair value of Trust’s share of scheme assets:

At1September
Interest income
Return on plan assets (excluding net interest on the net defined
pension liability)
Actuarial gain/(loss)
Employer contributions
Employee contributions
Benefits paid
Administration Expenses
At 31 August

2021
£’000

£’000

3,365
55

2,692
51

485
145
40
(47)

189
261
186
44
(56)

(2)

(2)

4,041

3,365

2020
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Folio Education Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended
31 August 2021 (continued)
27 Pension and Similar Obligations (continued)
Local Government Pension Scheme - London Borough of Croydon
Park Hill Junior School and St Peters Primary School joined the Trust on 1 April 2017 at which point the schools'
portion of the deficit on the LGPS for the London Borough of Croydon was pooled and transferred to the Trust.
Coombe Wood School opened on 1st September 2018.
The total contribution made for the year ended 31 August 2021 was £636,000 (2020: £470,000), of which employer’s
contributions totalled £480,000 (2020: £353,000) and employees’ contributions totalled £156,000 (2020:£117,000) .
Parliament has agreed, at the request of the Secretary of State for Education, to a guarantee that, in the event of
academy closure, outstanding Local Government Pension Scheme liabilities would be met by the Department for
Education. The guarantee came into force on 18 July 2013.
Principal Actuarial Assumptions

At 31 August
2021
2.90%
2.90%
1.65%

At 31 August
2020
2.20%
2.20%
1.90%

£000

£000

Adjustment to discount rate
Present value of total obligation

0.10%
194

15.00%
611

Adjustment to long term salary increase
Present value of total obligation

0.10%
7

1.00%
30

Adjustment to pension increases and deferred
revaluation
Present value of total obligation

0.10%

14.00%

184

573

Rate of increase in salaries
Rate of increase for pensions in payment/inflation
Discount rate for scheme liabilities
Sensitivity Analysis

The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in mortality
rates. The assumed life expectations on retirement age 65 are:
At 31 August

Retiring today
Males
Females
Retiring in 20 years
Males
Females

At 31 August

2021

2020

22.1
24.3

21.9
23.9

23
26

22.5
25.3
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended
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27 Pension and Similar Obligations (continued)
The academy’s share of the assets in the scheme were:
Fair value at
31 August
2021
£000
Equity instruments
Debt instruments
Property
Cash
Total market value of assets
Less Liabilities
Net Pension Liability

Fair value at 31
August 2020
£000

1,560
443
279
47
2,329
(6,711)
(4,382)

893
307
181
14
1,395
(4,005)
(2,610)

2021
£000

2020
£000

1,196
50

885
43

-

-

1,246

928

2021

2020

£’000

£’000

4,005
1,196
79
1,281
156

2,961
885
66
(13)
117

Amounts recognised in the statement of financial activities

Service Cost
Current Service Cost
Net Interest on defined liability
Deficit transferred on conversion

Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows:

At 1 September
Current service cost
Interest cost
Changes in financial assumptions
Employee contributions
Benefits paid
At 31 August

(6)

(11)

6,711

4,005
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27 Pension and Similar Obligations (continued)

Changes in the fair value of Trust’s share of scheme assets:

At1September
Interest income
Return on plan assets (excluding net interest on the net defined pension
liability)
Employer contributions
Employee contributions
Estimated benefits paid
At 31 August

2021
£’000

£’000

1,395
29

971
23

275
480
156

(58)
353
117

2020

(6)

(11)

2,329

1,395
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Folio Education Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended
31 August 2021 (continued)
28 Related Party Transactions
Owing to the nature of the Trust and the composition of the Board of Trustees being drawn from local public
and private sector organisations, transactions may take place with organisations in which the Trustees have
an interest. All transactions involving such organisations are conducted in accordance with the requirements
of the Academies Financial Handbook and with the Trust's financial regulations and normal procurement
procedures relating to connected and related party transactions. No related party transactions took place in
the period.

29 Agency Arrangements
The Trust administers the disbursement of discretionary support for learners, 16-19 Bursary Funds, on behalf of the ESFA. In
the year it received £15,458 (2020: £18,084) and disbursed £15,458 (2020: £9,771).
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